
CCITY OF PINE LAKE, GEORGIA

GENDA

FEBRUARY 10, 6

 

NOTE: All attendees are reminded to silence cellular phones and other devices that 
may cause interruption of the session proceedings. 

CALL TO ORDER –  MEETING 

PUBLIC HEARING – 2026 Comprehensive Plan

1. Comprehensive Plan, "Kickoff" by the Atlanta Regional Commission –
Presentation

2. Dam Project – Engineering Report on Rip Rap

3. Implementation of Ordinance 2024-05, Registry and Regulation of Short-
Term Rentals

4. Charter Review – Council-Manager Form of Government

PUBLIC COMMENT – 3 minutes each please

REPORTS AND OTHER BUSINESS

• Strategic Performance Report (SPR), February 2026
• Mayor
• City Council

ADJOURNMENT

MAYOR
Brandy Hall 

COUNCIILL MEMBERRSS
Jeff Goldberg
Deborah Hull
Stephanie Kohler 
Jane Lowers
Thomas Torrent

CITYY OFF PINEE LAKEE 
425 ALLGOOD ROAD
P.O. BOX 1325
PINE LAKE, GA 30072

404-999-4901

www.pinelakega.net



ARC MOA

Page 1 of 5 

022545 

LOCAL COMPREHENSICE PLAN UPDATE ASSISTANCE 
MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into as of this 1st day of November 2025 
( “Effective Date”) by and between the CITY OF PINE LAKE (hereinafter referred as 
the “City”), a political subdivision of the State of Georgia and the ATLANTA 
REGIONAL COMMISSION (hereinafter referred to as “ARC”). 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, Regional Commissions were created by the State of Georgia in order to assist local 
governments on a regional basis and to develop, promote, and assist in establishing coordinated 
and comprehensive planning in the state; and 

WHEREAS, as the Regional Commission for the 11-county Atlanta Region, ARC has been 
mandated to undertake certain regional responsibilities under the Georgia Planning Act of 1989 
(as amended) (O.C.G.A. 45-12-200, et seq., and 50-8-1, et seq.) and does agree to perform 
prescribed services to local governments; and 

WHEREAS, the City is required to update its Local Comprehensive Plan by October 31, 2026, 
according to the schedule set by the Georgia Department of Community Affairs (“DCA”); and 

WHEREAS, the City has requested assistance from ARC to update its Local Comprehensive Plan 
under the requirements set by the Minimum Standards and Procedures for Local Comprehensive 
Planning (the “Minimum Standards”) found in Chapter 110-12-1 of the DCA Rules, in accordance 
with the Georgia Planning Act of 1989 (as amended); and 

WHEREAS, ARC and the City believe it is mutually beneficial for both parties that the City, as 
part of the ARC, maintains its Local Comprehensive Plan; and 

WHEREAS, ARC agrees to provide assistance for development of the City’s update of its Local 
Comprehensive Plan. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and mutual covenants herein contained, 
and for other good and valuable consideration, the parties hereto agrees as follows: 

1. Duties of ARC. ARC agrees to perform the following services:

a. Provide a project manager to coordinate with local government staff and ensure that
the project is moving forward in a timely manner.

b. Facilitate and/or participate in Project Management Team meetings with local
government staff.

c. Facilitate, in consultation with local government staff, a public engagement process
reflecting the community’s demographics, composition and dynamics, to solicit
community input, that includes or is equivalent to the following:

i. A maximum of two (2) Steering Committee meetings, one (1) to be held in- 
person and one (1) to be held virtually.



ARC MOA
022545 

Page 2 of 5 
 

ii. A maximum of one (1) public engagement event, to be held either in-person 
or virtually and, if at all possible, attached to an existing/scheduled community 
event.

iii. An online public engagement portal and survey, hosted by ARC. 
iv. An opportunity for Steering Committee members to review and comment on 

the draft plan, including a review and comment period lasting at least two (2) 
weeks. 

v. An opportunity for Steering Committee members to review and comment on 
the draft plan, including a review and comment period lasting at least two (2) 
weeks. 

d. Update, in consultation with local government staff, the following Comprehensive 
Plan elements of which Regional Commissions are required to assist, as defined at 
Chapter 110-12-1-.02(7)(b) of the Minimum Standards: 

i. Community Vision/Goals
ii. Needs and Opportunities

iii. Broadband 
iv. Report of Accomplishments 
v. Community Work Program

e. Update, in consultation with local government staff, the following Comprehensive 
Plan elements, if requested by the local government:

i. Land Use 
ii. Economic Development 

iii. Transportation 
iv. Housing 
v. Historic and Arts/Cultural Resources 

vi. Natural Resources and Sustainability 
vii. Any other elements identified by the local government 

f. Review any adopted HUD Consolidated Plan, Local Comprehensive Transportation 
Plan (CTP), Regional Transportation Plan/Transportation Improvement Program 
(RTP/TIP), Economic Development Plan, relevant to ARC or other regional policy or 
plan document, and any other plans as needed, and integrate same with applicable 
elements of the Comprehensive Plan, as appropriate. 

g. Present at, attend, or support the two (2) DCA-required public hearings (one at kick- 
off and one prior to transmittal for regional and state review), if requested by the local 
government. 

h. Provide language for public hearing notices, if requested by the local government. 
i. Provide advertisement and other public involvement materials, if requested by the 

local government. 
j. Prepare the final plan document and other supporting materials in ARC’s standard 

format and provide all project files to the local government. 
k. Complete any plan revisions required by DCA following its state review process. 
l. Complete a maximum of two (2) rounds of plan revisions or edits requested by the 

local government project manager, outside of any revisions required by DCA 
following its state review process. 

 



ARC MOA
022545 

Page 3 of 5 

Duties of the City. The City agrees to perform the following duties:

Provide a staff point of contact throughout the process, to coordinate with ARC staff
and ensure that the project is moving forward in a timely manner.
Ensure the staff point of contact participates as a member of the Project Management
Team and attends Project Management Team meetings with ARC staff.
Develop a draft Report of Accomplishments showing the status of each item in the
Community Work Program from the existing Comprehensive Plan.
Develop a draft five (5) year Community Work Program.
Assemble a Steering Committee reflecting the composition of the local community.
The Steering Committee must include members of the governing authority (elected
officials), representatives of the local economic development community, and local
government staff. It should include or leverage local entities such as artists or arts
organizations, nonprofits, community-based organizations (CBOs), neighborhood
associations or organizations, and local businesses and/or local business
association(s).
Schedule Steering Committee meetings, in consultation with ARC.
Promote public awareness of the plan development process, including timely notice
of, and invitations to, Steering Committee and public meetings.
Provide locations for Steering Committee and public meetings that have heat/air
conditioning, water, and electricity.
Provide any food or beverages desired by the local government for Steering
Committee and public meetings.
Post timely notice of, and conduct, public hearings as required by the City’s existing
procedures.
Provide timely notice to ARC of local government meetings that ARC staff should
attend.
Provide ARC with submittal deadlines for relevant City boards and committees at the
beginning of the process.
Meet the following milestones in order for ARC to ensure that the City meets its DCA-
designated Plan Update deadline and maintains Qualified Local Government (“QLG”)
status:

Schedule a date for the First Required Public Hearing, as defined at Chapter
12-1-.04(1)(a) of the Minimum Standards, no more than thirty (30) days

after the signing of this Agreement Note: The actual meeting does not have
to occur within the aforementioned thirty (30) days
Identify and confirm Steering Committee members no more than thirty (30)
days after the signing of this Agreement.
Schedule both Steering Committee meetings no more than forty-five (45) days
after the signing of this Agreement (Note: The actual meeting does not have
to occur within the aforementioned y  (45) days.
Complete and provide to ARC staff a draft Report of Accomplishments,
showing the status of each item in the Community Work Program from the
existing Comprehensive Plan, no more than sixty (60) days after the signing
of this Agreement.
Accompany or host ARC staff on a site visit or tour (walking, biking, or



ARC MOA
022545 

Page 4 of 5 

driving, as appropriate) of key areas of the community no more than sixty (60) 
days after the signing of this Agreement. 

vi. Schedule the Second Public Hearing, as defined at Chapter 110-12-1-.04(1)(c)
of the Minimum Standards, no fewer than seventy-five (75) days before the
City’s DCA-designated Plan Update deadline of October 31, 2026.

vii. Ensure that any presentation(s) by ARC staff at the above-mentioned First and
Second Public Hearings take place first on the hearing or meeting agenda.

n. If the City seeks to use any consultant services on its plan update, in addition to the
services provided by the ARC as outlined in the foregoing, the ARC will only
coordinate with, and will only provide information to, the City’s staff point of contact.

3. Time of Performance, Amendments, Modifications.

a. This Agreement shall become effective upon the Effective Date and remain in effect
until the completion of the project or termination by the parties as provided below.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, in no event shall the term of this
Agreement exceed two (2) yeas from the Effective Date.

b. Either party may terminate this Agreement upon thirty (30) days’ written notice to the
other party, provided that the party requesting termination has provided notice and
sufficient opportunity for remedy.

c. Either party may request changes to this Agreement at any time by written notice to
the other party’s signatory of this Agreement. Such changes as are mutually agreed
upon by and between the parties shall be incorporated in written amendments to this
Agreement and executed in the same manner as this Agreement. This Agreement may
only be modified by an instrument in writing executed by the City and ARC.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the City and ARC acknowledge that this Agreement
may be revised or refined from time to time during its term. The parties agree to
cooperate with each other by executing such documents as may be necessary to
evidence such mutually agreeable modifications and refinements.

4. Rights in Documents, Materials, and Data Produced. For the purposes of this Agreement,
‘data’ includes, but is not limited to, writings, sound recordings, photographs, films,
videotapes, or other graphic representations and works of a similar nature. The City and ARC
shall have the right to use same without restriction or limitation and without compensation to
the other party of the Agreement.

5. Indemnity. The City shall indemnify and hold harmless ARC, its officers, directors,
employees and agents from and against any and all losses, reasonable attorneys’ fees and
costs, that may be based on any injury to persons or property caused by the negligent
performance of services under this Agreement by the City or any person employed by the
City.



2/6/2026

1

City of Pine Lake 2026 Comprehensive Plan Update
Public Hearing #1 – February 10, 2025

Jillian Porter-Willis, Senior Planner

Prepare 
for the 
Future

Prepare 
for the 
future

Anticipate 
Change

Accommodate 
Present Needs

Enhance 
Strengths

Minimize 
Weaknesses

Build 
Community

Provide for 
Public 

Health, 
Safety, & 
Welfare

How a community shapes and guides 
growth and development

Updating the comprehensive plan 
offers communities the opportunity to 
look beyond the execution of day-
to-day services and consider where 
they want to be in the next five 
years – as well as what has to be 
done to get there

Why do we plan?

1

2



2/6/2026

2

NEEDS & 
OPPORTUNITIES

VISION & 
GOALS

BROADBAND
COMMUNITY 

WORK 
PROGRAM

REQUIRED 
FOR ALL

REQUIRED 
FOR SOME

LAND USE*CIE TRANSPORTATION*ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT HOUSING*

* = Required for Pine Lake Underlined = Required to 
be updated every 5 years

Required Elements

See pp. 7-12 of DCA rules at Chapter 110-12-1-.03

Elements RCs Are Required to Assist With
Goals

Needs and Opportunities

Broadband

Community Work Program

See p. 6 of DCA rules at Chapter 110-12-1-.03(7)(b)

This is technically what’s required of the Regional Commission (RC), but 
ARC’s scope covers more.

3

4



2/6/2026

3

What is our timeline?

2026

February Sep - Oct

Public 
Hearing #1

March April May June August

Steering 
Committee
Meeting #1 Community 

Meeting

Steering 
Committee 
Meeting #2 

Deadline for 
Review, 
Approval, 
and Local 
Adoption is 
October 31

Public 
Hearing #2

Survey

Document 
Preparation

Help us spread the word!
https://publicinput.com/2026pinelak

e

5

6



2/6/2026

4

Thank You!
Questions?

7



�������������	
��

����

��
�
��
��
����
����	��������
����
��������
��
 !�



��������	
�����
�������������������������� ���!"#$#��%!�$��&�#'(#�)�!�$#�����!*����$"#%��+, ���!"#�-#"�(��$#��%!�����.+/+'���0""%'��123454�6�74�8�9��
�443��:���11���44*����$"#%��+, ���!"#�-#"�(��;�&�%�$+#��������������� ���!"#��/���-+�'�'(<"��'�=��'�!.+/+'���0""%'>�#���?@�+%�<AB#��� �C<��D�"D�-"��)�������E�8��4��9F4�
�9EE-�//!���##�''�A�.)���/�C��!�.%����'�#��"#>�#���?@�+%�<AB#����A�C<��D�"D�-"��)����9��9�G4:���9����11�66����
�9EE.����$�//��� �>���"#�-�����#�"�����$"/�� �>���"#�-�����#(<�'�%")+�����H�'�I#�I�#�%�J!��<��.�������=�/�"����C"���''�"�KL���''�"�<�#H�'���"��% �����I<"�"'�H�#����M���J!�.=C�'��DDKN��O���PQRS�TU�VQWX�YZ[X�N\N]�PT̂_̀XaXWbQcX�VdZW�e_fZRX ghijkhj�lmnopkji�qprrossopk



���������	�
��
���
���������������� ������������������ !����"#������$� %��������&���"��� ����' ���� ���"��� ����(�$�" � �)�"��� ����*��!+��,� �%��������-��'$$��$.�/��"��� ����$.�0�1"2����$� �3�����������4���$�"5�4��� ��" � &���������)������������4���$�0�6��������� &3��������%��7�� $�"�����" � -%��������8��9�"�!+� !� -3���������3��:��"���"5�4��"��2�$��� �$� �&��������3���"��� ����;"�,�1�"#���� ��
<��=���>?@A�BC�D?EF�GHIF�JKJL�>BMNOFPFEQ?RF�DSHE�TNUH@F VWXYZWY�[\]̂_ZYX�̀_aâbb̂_Z



����������	�

��

������������������������������������������� ��!"#��$��#��%���������"���������������"�&#�������'������������#"�����&���������(�)#"*���������#�����#&��!����+#��,������-��������� ����&#��������������������������&��#�������&���.��'��#�&�#"�������&������#""� �#��������#/�*����������������������#"�����������,��!�*"�&���������&����-�����#���������#��*�������&�#�������#�����"��*�&������� ��#*"�,�!����+#����#����� �����������"���&��*���������������������&�#""������'����������������#�����'�����&�����������%��#&�"����&���"�/�������������#�����&������&��������0�&��%�#���&���������������"� ���1�#"������� �&��������"�������������&��,��2��������/��'� ����#��%��������#""�&������""�&�����������'#&�� ����*�����&���������#����""����#�����#���#������� #�����#�������"���&����#���#������������&�����������#*"��#������������ ��'���� ���34���#��,�

5678�9:;8�6<�:�<=>?7@AB�C?778C=8D�C?EEF76=B�GH8>8�67D6I6DF:A<�:>8�I:AF8DJK=�8A8I:=8<�=H8�:>=<L�=H8�87I6>?7E87=L�:7D�C6I6C�M:>=6C6M:=6?7J�N?�<F<=:67�=H8<8�I:AF8<L�5678�9:;8�G6AA�MA:7�@>?G=H�:7D�E:67=:67�=H8�87I6>?7E87=�GH6A8�6EM>?I67@�<8>I6C8<L�C6=B�O67:7C8<L�:7D�PF:A6=B�?O�A6O8�O?>�?F>�>8<6D87=<J�
!����+#������(�)#"*�������.����#""��������%�*�����������"#�����#��������#���,��Q�����&���'������������%�����#�����#���������"��#&��#������������#���&�#�������������*����������#��#����#"�R������S�&�����������#����� �������&��#�����'�����"#��#��,��T �������%�����#����&�����#����#�'���&�����&�#"������������#"����U�&�*������U�#�%�*���� ���#��(�)#"*���������#���� �"�����#��������%�����������#�����#��������� �""#���&�#�#&����#���"�&#"�&�#��,��2���&���-����������'�������#���������������'�&�"���#"��� �" ������#����� ��������#"�����#������,��V���������#���� ��������# �"����������� ���������� ��������#"�1�#"�����'�����"#���#������"#���%�'���������#�&���������#���������#�%�#�������� ������&��#���������������������������0�&�����&��#��#�"�&#"�&����������#�����#��������"#�������,��

W��X���YZ[\�]̂�_Z̀a�bcda�efeg�Y]hijakàlZma�_nc̀�oipc[a qrsturt�vwxyzuts�{z||y}}yzu



�������������	�
����
�����������������������
���������� ���� ���!"#$% ���&%''$(($% 



�����������	
���
��



���������	
���

����������������
���������
�����������
�����������������
����������� !���
������
"����������	
������������#�
�
�����������
�
��������
������$ �
������ ! �%��#���
���#���������� !�"������������&�
���
�
��
��������
��
���#��������������#����'��&�������

"()(*+,-.)/01234516�789�(54:;63;9�(4<=>73148�?@78A;�18�3@;�?13B�4C�(18;�+7D;�C54E�FGGG�34�FGFHIJK�LMNOPQ�RSTUVPTOS�WXXXMWXYZ[�RSQU�\]SÛOSS�ÎP_̀ST�aQbcOdTUb̂S�WXWXMWXWL
e�aQbcOdTOf�gP_]OSh,?ij#��������������������k"kl��&��#��
��������
�
�m��������������������
��&�� !�������
������
"��n����������������������"olp��
������������
��!"�l��&��#������������p������#�
���&��%���
���
��
���
��
���"�l��&��#������������"��������&�q�
�������
������&�����
�����
���"��l��&��#������������"������� ! p��#��
#�
���&�%#����
�
�����
�#�
����
��
����
��#��
#�
���&�m����������#�
��������&������
�r��#�
s�#�
���������" FGtuFGtG vwxFwx wx HvxFuxtwxtx Gyzx?13B�4C�(18;�+7D;�h7617>�?4E<423148{�FGtG�|�FGtuIJK�LMNOPQ�RSTUVPTOS�WXYX�}�WXYZWXXX WXYX WXY~ WXYZ WXWX WXWL

������������������������������������������������������� ���������������������������



��������	
���
������������������������������������������
��	���������� �
� ���!"���#��������
������������������������������$�������������
��	���%�	���&�%������%���!"����������������������������������'���!�������%��(�� ��)
*
"����������������������� �����%��!�+�!������,���� ��������%� ��������������������������
�-�%%��.���%���%���%�������%����������� �����%�$���������������������
�!�����������%���������%� �����%��/���
�)
*0�����-����"����!���#��������
�����%�������������$����������
�1	��
2345�67�839:�;<=:��>:?<@:��@:�ABCB�D�ABCEABCB ABCEF64<G�86HIG<4369 JK JLMJN<G: OPMQ JRMST:U<G: JJMO JQMRVWX�RYZ[\]�̂_̀ab\̀[_�Kcdc�e�KcdQ

ABCEAfg
Chg CCg

ChgEgChg fg2345�67�839:�;<=:��@:�i3j4?3kI4369VWX�RYZ[\]�̂_̀ab\̀[_�KcdQ

l��m���nopq�rs�touv�wxyv�z{z|�nr}~�v�vu�o�v�t�xu��~�xpv �p�xupx��v�orux��nr}}o��oru



��������	
����
��
��������	��
�������������
	���������
��������
�����
��������������������	�������������������������	�
�������� !�"#$�%��
�����&�$
������ �������'	�'�	�
����
����������
������������
(�����	������
������'���)	�����
������	�&�*��������� �������� +������'	�'�	�
����
�����	)����'
�����
���
��	�������	���
��((�&�$
������ +������'	�'�	�
����
�	����	)����'
�����
��������
��	�������,�����������	��
'���
((�	���
����
��&-./0123�456724�8�97:/50-;<=>?@�.AA<BC?AD�>?�EFG�H>ED�;I�J>?G�:CKGLMN�OPQRST�UVWXYSWRV�Z[\[]�Z[\̂]�_�Z[\̀
Z[\[ Z[\̂ Z[\̀abcdeceec bfcefcghc bhcdecic

\[[jk[jl[ĵ[jZ[j[j
mnR�opqrst�uvwxyz�uvx{vs|}ryp}�~srx��v����o�~�v��r�{��SV����V��WR��X��WnR��TR�STSWX������WnR��X�R��S�R�M�Y�TRnR�VX�R���S���mnRTR��RTR���W�S����T��TSYV]��SWS]��T�TR��YYR��SWX��V�WnSW��RTR��RWRTYX�R��W���R�TR�R�S�W�W���X�R��S�R����SWS�������VX���MnSTS�WRTXVWX�V]����VX����RYS��]�S������VX����S��RV�STR��RV�TX�R��nRTR��-;<=>?@��DBG=�>?�EFG�H>ED�;I�J>?G�:CKGLMN�OPQRST�UVWXYSWRV�Z[\[]�Z[\̂]�_�Z[\̀�R�XS����YR��S��R��gie�ghh�R�XS���R�W��g�hae� ;�LMN�OPQRST�UVWXYSWRV]�Z[\̀

LW���RT�¡Oj]�VX���RP�SYX����RWS�nR��n��VX���TR�TRVR�WV�WnR��SVW�YS¢�TXW�����n��VX���X���X�R��S�R��NX��R�Z[\[]�WnR��T���TWX�������WnRT�n��VX���W��RV�nSV����VXVWR�W����R�TRSVR�� Z[\̀Z[\̂Z[\[
£��¤���¥¦§̈�©ª�«¦¬­�®̄°­�±²±³�¥©́µ¶­·­¬̧¦¹­�«º̄¬�»µ¼̄§­ ½§º̄¬§̄�¾­¿¦©¬̄º�¥©́ ¦̧̧́¦©¬



���������	�
����	�
�
���������

��

��

������������	������
�������
����
	����
�����
���������������
�������������
�
��������

�����	������	�
����	����

���������������
��������

������������������������������� ������!�	����

��������

��

���"#���

����������������������
$���������

������������%
�����&��������������
�
���
�
������
�����	�����
'
�
����
��������
����
	�	����	��������������
��
�
�����������(
������������	���)�����
������
��
�
����

�����*��'��
�	�
����	����	������������
����
	�
��'�������
��
���
�������������

����������
�
�������	������
�����*������
���
�����
��������

��

�
���	����	�����+���*��)���������������������
��
���������'�
���

�,�,���		���

������������-�	����
�����
�������
./01234�567835�9�:8;061.<=>?@A�B=?CD�EF�GHIJ�I>�KHJLH@DIAH�<M�N<DIC�.<=>?@A�0@?D>�?@�DOH�P?DF�<M�K?@H�;IQH

RSTST UT VST VUT.<=>?@A�:IC=H>�?@�DOH�P?DF�<M�K?@H�;IQHW�XYZ[�9�XYZ\
RSV]RSV̂_̀abcd�ef�geach�i

j
��*�����)�����

��*������

��

���������*��

	������������
��'������������*�������'�*��k,#�)������*��

	�������	�����������,�����
�������l�
��&��
���)��������������������*������'�����k,��)������*����	������������,����*�����)���
������������k#�)�������k��)������
����+���*��)���
��*�������
����
���

	�������'���
�������

�,����
mno�Upqcrd�shtuartch�RSV]

S VS RS vS Ŝ US wS xS yS ]Smno�Upqcrd�shtuart
ch�RSV̂�z�RSV]

{|��}���~������������������|�{�~������������������������ �����������������~���������



������
��	
��
��������������	��	
���������	
��������������������������������������
������	�
�� !�"���#��#�����	������$����������%�	&�������	�����������	����� �   �����������
���'��	
�������������(��	�
�������
)(��	�
�� !�*$��������������������������$����������%�	&��������)������������
������������)+(�����	�'�
�(!�"���&�������������������$�������������������	�����������	����� �   �����������
�����'��'���������%�	&�������	��)�������	���� �   !

�,-.�/0�1,23�4563��37,52�8/9:3;/<7��2=/>3?�@ABA?�@ABC�D�@ABEFGH�IJKLMN�OPQRSMQLP�TUVWXYE?Z[E X\C?\YE X\@?@]]
@ABE@ABA @Ŷ@Ŷ Ŷ BŶBÂ B@̂ B̂�,-.�/0�1,23�4563�8/9:3;/<7��2=/>3?�@ABA�D�@ABEFGH�IJKLMN�OPQRSMQLP�TUVU�_�TUVW

@B̂ @Â@Ẑ ÊBB̂[̂[̂Ŷ\̂\̂
`̀��a���bcde�fg�hcij�klmj�noǹ�bfpqrjsjitcuj�hvli�wqxldj ydvlidl�zj{cfilv�bfppcttcfi



���������� 	
��
����
��
����
����
���������
���������
�� !�"#$
%&'(

	
��
����
)*�
)+��,��,�
��
����
�����������
�� !�"#$
%&'(
-.

/


0123
45
6178
9:;8
.<.-
04=>?8@87A1B8
6C:7
D>E:28 F2C:72:
G8H147:C
04==1AA147



��������	��
�	
���
�

��
	����
�
��
���������������������� !��"#"����$%&�'��(�)���* ��+%, �� -./01.0�2345610/�7688599561:�* �� �;�<��� *���$$�((���



���������	��
��



����������	
����
�������������	�����	������������	������������	������������

��������
�����������������������	���������������������������������	����	����������	�� �����������������

������
������
�����������	���������������������������	��������	�
�	��
������������������������ ��!�������������	��������������������������"����������	������������������������� �#$%&'()*+�,-./*01�.2�3*24�35'0+*)�6--2*01�78 9:;;<%=>?�@%A$A@;@%>�>=;@B=%@C2--/*01�35DD*22--�6--2*01�78E0)*0-�35DD'0*24�C'/F-4�G-)-.H-I ;$JC2--/*01�35DD*22--�6--2*01�7K
L@M $NJO*/2'.)�&'()*+�6--2*01 ;$?C2--/*01�35DD*22--�6--2*01�7P $<A3*24�35'0+*)�&'()*+�,-./*01�7K :9>3*24�35'0+*)�QI5R2*50SSS

TUVW�XYZW�U[�Y�[\]̂V_̀a�b̂VVWb\Wc�b̂ddeVU\a�fgW]W�UVcUhUceỲ[�Y]W�hỲeWcij\�ẀWhY\W[�\gW�Y]\[k�\gW�WVhU]̂VdWV\k�YVc�bUhUb�lY]\UbUlY\ÛVi�m̂�[e[\YUV�\gW[W�hỲeW[k�TUVW�XYZW�fÙ̀�l̀YV�_]̂f\g�YVc�dYUV\YUV�\gW�WVhU]̂VdWV\�fgÙW�Udl]̂hUV_�[W]hUbW[k�bU\a�nUVYVbW[k�YVc�oeỲU\a�̂n�̀UnW�n̂]�̂e]�]W[UcWV\[i�9:;;<%=>?�=%N<>�:NN:J><%=>=@p9:;;<%=>?�q=p=:%
rs��t���uvwx�yz�{v|}�~��}����r�uy���}�}|�v�}�{��|�����w} �w��|w���}�vy|���uy��v��vy|



����������	�
���
�

������������������
������ �!�"#$%#&�% '�($)&*���+�,$#-�&,���#��.#+-/'�'��0#+$10�2/ ��3%4�5,�2$")/67 .$����".%1���0/60�/ 6)$'�'�%�,�#/�,�+8�9$�,�/+ ,�6+-�#/ 1�%��/'��#% 1��+8��+./6,�8#+:� %�$#%)�% '�� -/#+ :� �%)�#�,+$#6�,��+�0+$,/ 1;�<�%#)&�=>?�.�+.)��#�,.+ '�'�/ ��+�%)�@��0��:%A+#/�&�+8��0+,��#�,.+ '� �,���#��BC?�&�%#,�+)'*��0/��*�8�:%)��0+:�+� �#,��0+�0%-��)/-�'�/ �2/ ��3%4��8+#�D=?�&�%#,;�E0��:+,��.+.$)%#�'�,6#/.�/+ �+8�2/ ��3%4��'�,6#/"�'��0��6+::$ /�&�%,�F%�,)/6��+8�0�%-� �/ ��0��:/'')��+8�G�H%)"�I+$ �&J�% '�.+,/�/+ �'�/��%,�%�F,$"$#"% � %�$#��.#�,�#-��K% 'L�+.� �% '�%66�.�/ 1�6+::$ /�&��/�0�K%L�6$)�$#%)�%#�,�% '�% �� -/#+ :� �%)�8+6$,J�@�+-�#�0%)8�MNOPQ�+8�#�,.+ '� �,�#%��'��0�/#�9$%)/�&�+8�)/8��/ �2/ ��3%4��%,�FR/10J��/�0�+ )&�SP�#%�/ 1�/,�%,�F3+�;J�R+��-�#*�,�-�#%)�#�,.+ '� �,�%),+�#�:%#4�'�+ ��0��#%6/%)�0+:+1� �/�&�+8�/�,�#�,/'� �,�% '��)�6��'�+88/6/%),;�E0��%:.)�� %�$#%)�#�,+$#6�,*�8#/� ')&�%6�/-��6+::$ /�&*�% '�6+::/���'��)�6��'�+88/6/%),���#��6/��'�%,�2/ ��3%4�5,��+.�%,,��,��0/)��8/,6%)�,$,�%/ %"/)/�&*��6+ +:/6�'�-�)+.:� �*�% '�6+::$ /�&�/ 6)$,/+ ���#��)/,��'�%,��0��:+,��.#�,,/ 1�60%))� 1�,;�T�-/#�$%)�.$")/6�:���/ 1��%,�0�)'�+ �T.#/)�>U��+�'/,6$,,��0��I/�&�+8�2/ ��3%4�5,�6$##� ��% '�8$�$#��

 ��',;�7 �%''/�/+ ��+�,+)/6/�/ 1��0��/'� �/8/6%�/+ �+8��0��6/�&5,�%,,��,�% '�60%))� 1�,*�%��� '��,���#��%,4�'�%�,�#/�,�+8�9$�,�/+ ,�6+-�#/ 1��0��,%:���/'��#% 1��+8��+./6,�/ 6)$'�'�/ ��0��,$#-�&;�V-�#%))*�%��� '��,�'�,6#/"�'�2/ ��3%4��%,�%�,:%))*�9$/#4&�-/))%1�*���)6+:/ 1��+�%#�/,�,�% '� %�$#��)+-�#,�%)/4�;�R+��-�#*�%��� '��,�%),+�%64 +�)�'1�'��0��,/W��+8��0��6+::$ /�&�.+,�,�,+:��60%))� 1�,��/�0�#�1%#'��+�8/ % 6/%)�,$,�%/ %"/)/�&�% '��0���6+ +:/6�'�-�)+.:� ��+8�/�,�6+::�#6/%)�'/,�#/6�;���XYZ[X\�]��̂_̀[âbĉYX\�dceaZ[fceg ,$#.#/,/ 1)&*�2/ ��3%4��@��0��6/�&5,� %:�,%4��@��%,�/'� �/8/�'�%,��0��:+,��,/1 /8/6% �� %�$#%)�% '�� -/#+ :� �%)�#�,+$#6�;�E0�����)% ',�,$##+$ '/ 1��0��)%4��%,���))�%,�h %.8/ 1�#�I#��4���#��%),+�/'� �/8/�'�/ ��9$%)�:�%,$#��% '��0�/#�/:.+#�% 6��/ �:%/ �%/ / 1��0��)%4�5,��%��#�9$%)/�&�0/10)/10��';�R+��-�#*��0��6/�&5,��#���6% +.&��%,�%),+�/'� �/8/�'�"&�,�-�#%)�.�+.)��%,�%�,/1 /8/6% ��#�,+$#6���0%��'�,�#-�,�6+ �/ $�'�:$ /6/.%)�.#+��6�/+ �% '�%�'/,6$,,/+ �+8�%''/�/+ %)�+..+#�$ /�/�,�8+#�$#"% �%1#/6$)�$#���/�0/ ��0��6/�&���#��'/,6$,,�'�%���0��.$")/6�:���/ 1;

ijklmn�opqjr�stkumrt

vw��x���yz{|�}~��z�����������v�y}��������z������������{� ���������������������������



����������	�
���
�

���������������������� !�"�#��$%�$!&%�'(� $!"(�)*+,�-./,�.+0�*12�.2234*.1,0�5,.46�7382,9�.2�:,;;�.2�16,�<,.46�.+0�28==38+0*+>�:,1;.+029�:,=,�*0,+1*?*,0�.2�16,�@321�2*>+*?*4.+1�6*213=*4�.+0�48;18=.;�=,238=4,A�73:,B,=9�16,�?3=@,=�468=46�16.1�48==,+;1C�6382,2�16,�)3;*4,�D1.1*3+9�E38=16382,�.+0�E38+4*;�E6.@<,=2�.+0�16,�E;8<6382,�:.2�.;23�*0,+1*?*,0�.+0�.�0,2*=,�13�2,,�*1�F=,2,=B,0�.+0�=,F8=F32,0�,@F6.2*G,0A�H6,�I=1�J.;;9�K3+.=46�L.=0,+9�.+0�M=.+4,2�K.+8,;�N=1,>.�K,@3=*.;�:,=,�@,+1*3+,0�<C�23@,�=,2F3+0,+12�.2�8+*O8,�,;,@,+12�16.1�2F,./�13�16,�1=8,�46.=.41,=�3?�)*+,�-./,A���$�$!(��(P(% QR(S�T34/<=*0>,�T3.0�:.2�*0,+1*?*,0�.2�16,�F=*@.=C�.=,.�?818=,�0,B,;3F@,+1�2638;0�<,�;34.1,09�,2F,4*.;;C�16,�.=,.�.0U.4,+1�13�16,�F321�3??*4,A�K.+C�=,2F3+0,+12�*+0*4.1,0�.�0,2*=,�13�2,,�@*V,0W82,�0,B,;3F@,+1�.;3+>�16*2�43==*03=�.+0�16,�.00*1*3+�3?�.�B.=*,1C�3?�0,21*+.1*3+�<82*+,22,2A�I�0,2*=,�13�2,,�B.4.+1�;312�.;3+>�)3F;.=�T3.0�0,B,;3F,0�:.2�26.=,0�<C�23@,�.+0�0,+38+4,0�<C�316,=2A���" S R�"��(P(% QR(S�XYZ�3?�=,2F3+0,+12�B*2*1�)*+,�-./,[2�E3@@,=4*.;�\*21=*41�?3=�>3B,=+@,+1�2,=B*4,2�]�16,�316,=�XYZ�.=,�0*B*0,0�<,1:,,+�N16,=�̂_YZ̀9�D63FF*+>�̂abZ̀9�I813@3<*;,�D,=B*4,�.+0�T,F.*=�̂aYZ̀9�.+0�T,21.8=.+12�ĉZ̀A�T,2F3+0,+12�*0,+1*?*,0�<82*+,22�0*B,=2*1C9�@8;1*W@30.;�.44,229�.+0�.�436,2*B,�.FF,.=.+4,�.2�16,�F=*@.=C�*@F=3B,@,+12�16.1�+,,0�13�<,�@.0,�13�

,+438=.>,�=,2*0,+1�82,�3?�16,�0*21=*41A�73:,B,=9�.�+8@<,=�3?�=,2F3+0,+12�.;23�*+0*4.1,0�.�+,,0�13�28FF3=1�,V*21*+>�;34.;�<82*+,22,2�:*16�=,>8;.=�4*1CW2F3+23=,0�.41*B*1*,2�:*16*+�16,�0*21=*41A��!&S�Q !�&�� SH6,�@.U3=*1C�3?�=,2F3+0,+12�*+0*4.1,0�)*+,�-./,[2�1=.+2F3=1.1*3+�2C21,@�*2�.0,O8.1,�:*16�3+,�,V4,F1*3+�]�d_Z�=.+/,0�16,*=�2.1*2?.41*3+�:*16�=3.0�43+0*1*3+2�.2�e5,;3:�IB,=.>,Af�D,B,=.;�.=,.2�16=38>6381�16,�.=,.�:,=,�*0,+1*?*,0�.2�0.+>,=382�?3=�F,0,21=*.+2�.+0g3=�<*4C4;*212�̂,A>A9�E;8<6382,�\=*B,�.1�T34/<=*0>,�T3.0�.+0�\3>:330�T3.0�.+0�*+1,=2,41*3+�3?�5,.B,=�T3.0�.+0�).=/�T3.0̀A�M*+.;;C9�16,�.00*1*3+�3?�21=,,1�4.;@*+>�@,.28=,2�.;3+>�).=/�\=*B,�.+0�-./,263=,�\=*B,�:,=,�=,O8,21,0A�� $��ShT,2F3+0,+12�:,=,�8;1*@.1,;C�2F;*1�<,1:,,+�16,�+,,0�?3=�@3=,�.??3=0.<;,�6382*+>�̂diZ̀9�2,+*3=�6382*+>�̂XaZ̀9�.+0�@*V,0W*+43@,�6382*+>�̂XYZ̀�16=38>6�16,�28=B,C9�1638>6�@*V,0W*+43@,�6382*+>�:.2�*0,+1*?*,0�.2�16,�F=*@.=C�6382*+>�+,,0�08=*+>�16,�F8<;*4�@,,1*+>A�73:,B,=9�:6,+�.2/,0�13�*0,+1*?C�)*+,�-./,[2�@321�*@F3=1.+1�6382*+>�+,,09�.�+8@<,=�3?�=,2F3+0,+12�*+0*4.1,0�.�0,2*=,�13�2,,�8F>=.0,2�13�,V*21*+>�@8;1*W?.@*;C�F=3F,=1*,2�16=38>6�430,�,+?3=4,@,+1�.+0�1.V�*+4,+1*B,2A�I�0,2*=,�13�2,,�16,�43+21=841*3+�3?�+,:9�;3:W*+43@,�6382*+>�.2�:,;;�.2�6*>6,=�63@,3:+,=26*F�=.1,2�.+0�;3:,=�F=3F,=1C�1.V,2�:.2�,VF=,22,0�<C�=,2F3+0,+12A�
jklm�nopm�qmors�tuvwmx�yzo{m�|uv}~mw��u���~�ol~o��o{o�klm�������������������������������������������������������� � ¡¢£ ¢�¤¥¦§̈£¢¡�©̈ªª§««§̈£



������������	
���
���������
�����



����������	�
���
�

�������������������� �!�"��#$%��&$'��'�$()�'��*�$'�$�+,+$)�-+�'�+�.�/�00,"����1�$� �'��"2�$"*�/$03�"2�+��+�$�� �+�4�)$"�$5'�&�+%�"2�/)$''�1�*,+�"2������$+)��6789':��;��&$'��"/�+3�+$��*��"�<�/�0(�+�=>?�678>:��4//�+*�"2����=967�4�@��'��0$��'?����������� �!�"��#$%���"/),*�*�8AB���,'���)*'?�/�03+�'�*�� �>C7�+�'�*�"�'��"�$�2��2+$3�����$��/�D�+�*�6B6�$/+�'?��+�9:=E�'F,$+��0�)�':��G�D�"�������'��+�/�*�D�)�30�"��3$���+"'���$��&�,)*�$))�&� �+�����/+�$���"�� �)��'�$'�'0$))�$'�=?999�'F,$+�� ����H=95�I�6995J?�����������$'�+��$�"�*�$�/�03$/�?�D�))$2�1��3�� ��):�����,2������0$K�+����� �����+�'�*�"��$)�$+�$�� �����/����)$/%'�'�*�&$)%'?�����2+�*1"��&�+%�� �'�+���'�"�"����)�''�/+�$��'�$�&$)%$()��"��&�+%:�����'����'��"���$��+$�)�'�'��0���$��/�""�/�'��������)$%�� �+�&��/������/�00,"�����'�"$0�*:����00�"����0�'�$+�'��L���+�,2��,��',('�F,�"��3)$"�,3*$��'�$"*�",0�+�,'�3,()�/�0����"2'�L���$��3��"��($/%��������F,$)����� �)� ���"K���*�(��+�'�*�"�'�� �����/�00,"���:�����+���'�/�"'�"','���$������3��'�/$)� �+0�� ����������/�,3)�*�&��������$���"*$"���"D�+�"0�"�$)�(�$,���/+�$���$�'�+�"2�'�"'��� �3)$/�:������/�00,"�����$'�$��+$/��*�"��2�(�+'���$��'�$+��/�00�"��"��+�'�'��"�$+�'?�/,)�,+��$"*�3)$/�0$%�"2�1�3+�'�+D�"2�����,"�F,��$"*��"*�D�*,$)�'��/�/�$+$/��+���$���$'�*+$&"����0����+�:��M�&�D�+?�����/�00,"�����'�$)'��F,�/%����3��"���,����$�������)�0�"�'���$��0$%������/�00,"����'3�/�$)?�$)'��+�',)���"�/�$))�"2�':�

����������'�2��2+$3��/$))��'0$))?�$"*� �+�'�D�+$)���$+'�����$'�'�+,22)�*�&�����'',�'�� �$""�I$���":����"/�+"'�$+��/�"'�'��"�)��D��/�*�$(�,��&�����+�$""�I$���"�&�,)*�/�$"2������*�"$0�/�� �����/�00,"���?����,2�����+���'�$�*�'�+������I3$"*�����/�00�+/�$)�*�'�+�/��H�+�$��)�$'��/�00�+/�$)�(,'�"�''�'J����3+�D�*��2+�$��+�'�+D�/�':�������N�"'�D��/�*�/�"/�+"'���$������/,++�"��'�+D�/�'�*��"���0$�/������"��*'�� �����/�00,"���?�"�+�*�������2�"�+$���',  �/��"��+�D�",�����$))�D�$���$�'�2"� �/$"���$I�(,+*�"��"�+�'�*�"�':��������,'�'�$+��'0$)):��#$+2�)��*,���������)�2$/��� ���������5'���'��+��$'�$�+,+$)�-+�'�+�.�/�00,"���?�0$"��+�'�*�"��$)�,"��'�+��$�"�$�/���$2����3�� ��):�����,2����,'�'��$D��(��"�+�"�D$��*�$"*��")$+2�*��D�+���0�?����������*��'��" �+/��0$I�0,0�'F,$+�� ���$2��+�'�+�/���"'� �+�+�'�*�"��$)�,"��'?�$"*�*��'��"/�,+$2������*�D�)�30�"��� �-��"����,'�'.���$��$+��/�03)�$"��&����(,�)*�"2�/�*�':�M�&�D�+?�/�"/�+"'��$D��(��"�D��/�*�$(�,��&�����+�����'0$))���,'�'?�$)�"2�&����$D�+$2��3,()�/�'/���)'?�0$��*�'/�,+$2�� $0�)��'�&����/��)*+�"� +�0�)�D�"2��"�����/�00,"���:�O�"����)�''?����'�*��'"5��"�/�''$+�)��0$%��/�"D�+'$���"'�$(�,��2+�&���$"���$'��+:��!+�D��,'���03+���"'�D��!)$"'��$D���*�"�� ��*�����"��*� �+�2+�&����"�����/�00,"���:��P�����+����'��$33�"�*�

QRSTU�VW�XVWU�YZ[U\]��̂���_̀ab�cd�èfg�hijg�klk\�_cmnogpgfq̀rg�esif�tnuiag vwxyzwy�{|}~�zyx�����~��~�z



����������	�
���
�

����������
�������������� !�����"�#$�%�� �%�� �!��!���&�'�((���)" )�!��������!�% �%*�+����&�����,�-�!� .�'�!�) �.�$�$��-�����/��-��!����� �)�#�'��!�%&&*��0����1%,��!��##�!� "��#�!�2����%� �)"�%�����&� �%�� �!!�.��)�#�'����3�(�!�#-�%�#��%'-�& �(�(%�-�-�% !�%��*��4��� �%#��-��!���%��)�#�'��$�)% �(�����%!�(%$��!����&�'%���'�%���!��.� �����#%!���2��$�'%$�!� �!"#��������%�� �%�#-��() �.�$� �#%����!��)�2��������'�(("���-*��5#!�6�0����1%,��)�#�'��'%  -��"��'�$����&� '�(����&"�'����!�2����������/��-6�%�$�'��'� �!��%.��������7) �!!�$�%��"���8"%#�%�$��%#%�'�$���&� '�(���*��4�� ���!�%� �'���������&� �%�� �%�� ����$�&� �$�.� !��-�2����������'�(("���-6�%�$��"�#$����!� ���� � �#%����!��)!�2����%$9%'����������� ���$!*��4���"�#$�������� �!� �����!�%�$��.� '�(������ �'�%##����!6�����'�(("���-�2�##����$�����(� %'���.� -������& �(�)�#�'�������)#%'�(%,���������!" ������!"''�!!��&����� ���$�%.� !*��:!!"�!6��))� �"�����!�%�$�)�#�'��!��%.�������$�.�#�)�$�%!�%�)% ���&����!�/�() ����!�.��0#%��;)$%������%$$ �!!�����!� �����!�%�$�'�%##����!��&�����'�(("���-6�%�$�) �.�$��%��"�$��&� �$�'�!���<(%,�������������7��=<-�% !*��

�� �"���%���7%������ ���&�##�$�.�#�)(���6������ �2����%!�>�� �%##-��''" �$*��4���/��-��%!�'�()#���$�")$%��!���� ��"#%����!�&� �'�((� '�%#�%�$�(�7�$�"!��$�.�#�)(���!*�4���/��-��%!�%#!�������2� ,����2����?@+4�%�$�@�A%#��/�"��-�����()#�(����'�  �$� ��() �.�(���!�%#����B�',� �$���B�%$*��C������������7��=�-�% !��&����!�/�() ����!�.��0#%��;)$%��6�����/��-�(%-��7)� ���'��� �%�� ��))� �"���-�&� ���2�$�.�#�)(����%#����B�',� �$���B�%$���%��2�"#$�&"#&�##�!�(���&�������2� ��%�#�%�$�!� .�'��"!�!�$�!� �$��-�����'�(("���-*�4���/��-��&�0����1%,��(%-��%.�����$�%#�(� ��$� �'�#-�2�����!!"�!��&�%���7%�����%!�����)������%#�&� ���2�'����!����@�A%#��/�"��-���' �%'��")��������7�!�����'��-�#�(��!*��4�� ��(%-����#�(���$��))� �"�����!�&� ������7)%�!�����&�("��'�)%#���"�$% ��!��������&"�" �6�!��"#$�������'� )� %������&���2�'����!�%�$������7)%�!�����&��7�!�����'����!��%,�����!"  �"�$����������� ���$!�%�$�'�((� '�%#�'���� !*��D7)%�$�$�("��'�)%#���"�$% ��!�2�"#$�� �������%$$�����%#��))� �"�����!�&� � �.��"�!�%�$� �!�" '�!6��"��2�"#$�%#!��$�(%�$�%$$�����%#�!� .�'�!*��:��%$$�������������,����%��"������) %'��'%#��()#�'%����!��&�%���7%����6�����/��-�'�"#$�%#!������&���& �(�%����"���&"#�%�$�$�#��� %���%)) �%'�����%�����%��(����!� %���-�&� �!"  �"�$�����"!���!!�!�%�$�������� ���$!*��4���/��->!��2��'���E��!�(%-����������!��%(�%!!%$� !�FG��H���IJKL�MN�OJPQ�RSTQ�FGFU�IMVWXQYQPZJ[Q�O\SP�]ŴSKQ _̀abc̀b�defghcba�ihjjgkkghc



����������	�
���
�

����������������������������� �!��"����#����$���������!��%���&�������������'��$�(��(���'���� "�)� )���$���*�������������" ���(�����'�#���+�����+�!$��(��# ,,����$-����,���+�# ,,��#����+�'�� ),����.��(����(��#��$/��! ��+������)� '�+�����,���+�)� )���$���*���'������ ��(��#��$-��0(����,���+���,!��� "�# ,,��#����)��#����,��������+�""�#����� �)� '�+���(��� #���!����������+�����+�!$�����+����-�����������������������������.��(�����)����� ��" ����������'����#������%��( ��(�" ���(��������.���$�$������(��) ��#��+�)���,����(���,�+�������"�#����#(������� ��++������(���# �#������+�����# ,,����+�� �# ��������$��,)� '���-��1��$�����+�����.��(��#(  ������#(��+����#(  ��� )�� ��� �(����(����(��� #����#(  ���$���,-233245�6�5�����������'���(����'�� �,������&�����$���+�����������'�� �,�����(���#���7������8 $���+��+����"$������)���� "����������/���+�����$-��9))�$�# ,,��#����7 �������+�+����������+��+��� �#��������.����!���# ,,��#����# ���+ ���� ���: #�!��+���: �+��(�����"��#����(��#(���#������+��+�����$� "����������-��;���+������� ��(�)��.��(�� #���!������������ ���: #�!��+���: �+-��������'���(�����&���#(���#���� "���������������+�������!���+������ #�%���# ���7�����(�����,����� "��(��#��$/����!���+�������(��������#����+������������+������ ���'������(��# ,,����$-���� , ���)��#�,������������  ��� �!���+� ���(���������#��+�����$� "����������������#��������+�������� ��" ��1��� �9������
<=��>���?@AB�CD�E@FG�HIJG�<K<=�?CLMNGOGFP@QG�ERIF�SMTIAG UVWXYVX�Z[\]̂YXW�_̂̀ ]̀aa]̂Y



����������	�
���
�

������������������������ ��!"#��$�%%�&'�(�')������'�(�*� ��"%�+�"'"+��'��������+����$��%��"%%�$� ,�+�-&"��.%�� �$�(� ,%�/�"-�%����-�(����� ��%%�� ��0�(�� ,�%��(�$���� �����+����%�-��(�+� (�(�� ��$��������1� � ,��'*� " +�2���������������� ��!"#��$�%%�&'�"+��)�%��� +�3'",������*�)�%�&-� �����+�--�'+�"%�&"'+�%(����&'�)�*��"�."%" +�*��"0�."(��(�')� ,����� ��*(��������+����+� (�(�� ��$��������1� � ,��'*� " +�2���������������� ��!"#��$�%%��*� ������&&�'�3 ����(�����0&" *�+����.�3 *"'��(�� �"�-"  �'���"��"&&'�&'�"��%���3%��%%(�����+�--3 ���4(�)�(�� �" *�*�(�'����'�*��� � ,���(�.�3 *"'��(�" *�&'�)�*� ,�"�(�".%���"0�."(�����(�')��+3''� ��" *��3�3'��'�(�*� �(2���������������� ��!"#��$�%%�&'�(�')������� )�'� -� �"%�53"%���������(� "�3'"%�'�(�3'+�(6�� +%3*� ,�����%"#�6�$��%" *(6��'���+" �&�6��0�(�� ,�)�,��"��� 6�" *�$�%*%�����".��"�2���������������� ��!"#��$�%%�-" ",������%"#�6�.�"+�6�" *�����'�,'�� (&"+�(� ���� %��"(�+�--3 ����"-� ����(���'������ 7��-� �����+����'�(�*� �(6�.3��"%(��"(�+'���+"%�� )�'� -� �"%�'�(�3'+�(�� � ��*����&'���+��� 6���'�3,��"�+�--� �3 *�'(�" *� ,����&3'&�(�6�3(�6�" *�'�,3%"��� 2���������������� ��!"#��$�%%�+� �� 3�����+��&�'"���$����%�+"%6�'�,�� "%6�" *���*�'"%�",� +��(�" *�&"'� �'(����(��#�+�%%".�'"��)��(�%3��� (����+�--� � ��*(�" *�"+���)��'�,�� "%��.7�+��)�(6���'�����.� ��������'�(�*� �(�����3'�+���6�8�9"%.���3 ��6�" *�����'�,�� "%�+�--3 ���2���������������� ��!"#��$�%%�+� �� 3��'�%"��� (��&�.3�%*� ,�$����+���1� (6�� +�3'",� ,��&� �*�"%�,3����"����(��'(��� �(��" *�+'���+"%�*�(+3((�� �����&&�'�3 ����(�" *�+�"%%� ,�(���"������+����$�%%��"+��� ����� �0����)����"'(2
::��;���<=>?�@A�B=CD�EFGD�:H:I�<@JKLDMDCN=OD�BPFC�QKRF>D STUVWTV�XYZ[\WVU�]\̂ [̂__[\W



��������	��
�	
���
�

��
	����
�
��
���������������������� !���"�#���$%&�'��(�)���* ��+%, �� -./01.0�2345610/�7688599561



�������������	�
�	



���������	
�����

���	���	��������
��������	���������

���������	� ��!����"

���������	
�����"#�$

%#�	���"
&����	'�����"	(	)��!� �

*+		,			-./0	12	3.45	6785	*9*:	-1;<=5>54?.@5	3A74	B<C7/5 D/A74/7	E5F.147A	-1;;.??.14



���������	����
���

�����������
���������	��������������

��������	 �����!����


��������	"��������
#�����������	$����!������
"�%�����������	&����������

'(		)			*+,-	./	0+12	3452	'6'7	*.89:2;21<+=2	0>41	?9@4,2 A,>41,4	B2C+.14>	*.88+<<+.1



��������	��
�	
���
�

��
	����
�
��
���������������������� !���"�#���$%&�'��(�)���* ��+%, �� -./01.0�2345610/�7688599561



����������������	�
��������



����������	���
��������
������������	�	
������	���������
	�����
�
���������	��������������	������������������	���
	�
��	����
	������������������	���
������������	
��������
�
���	����������
�	����������������
��������������	���		����������
�������	�	
����	��	��
���
��
����������������������������	�	
����
�	��������	���	���������	�����������������	����
������	�������������	���	��	�	���������	���
���������������	��������	���������	� ��
����������������	����	�
��
�	������	����
������
������
�
��������	�����!	��
���������

"#$%$"&'%�$%'$�($)
*

+,��-���./01�23�4/56�7896�+:+;�.2<=>6?65@/A6�4B85�C=D806 E0B8508�F6G/258B�.2<</@@/25



����������	
��
����
��
����
����
���
�����������
��
�
�����
 ������!
"�##�����
���
$������
�����%
���
�����
&'()�*
���
��"��+������
��
,�"�#���
-.*
&'(./
$�
����
��#�*
����
����
��
,�0���
������
���
���%���
�����
���
����
���
����
��
����
��
�#���
��
-)
����
��
&))
����
1-*)))
�2����
����3/
4���
��
���
����
����
����
���
������
#���
����
���
+��"�#���
��
�����/

��
"������
+��"��
�#���
"����%��
����
����
���������
"������"���
����
5�"�����
��#��
���
$������
���������
���
�����
"�#�
���
��
���#*
����*
���
��"����6�/
$�
���
����
��"�#�
#���
��������
�����
7����
7��
88*
"��5��������
��#��
����
"������"���
���
����9��#�
���*
���
����
����
#���������
���
�����
 ������!
"����"���
���+���
���
��5���+#���
��
���%��
��#��
���
�����"�+��
�����/

��
����
���
��������
�
�����������
5����%�
��#��+����
���
#���
��#��
��5�
����
����5����
��
��"���
�����/$""�����%
��
-)&'
$�:
����#����*
���
����
��
"�#+�����
��
;&.
������%
�����*
����
��#���
<)=
�����9�""�+���
���
�����
(-=
������
�""�+���
9
#���
��
���
����
��
6����
���
�����������
���
����/
,����%
���
��#+�������5�
����
�+����*
���
"����"���
��
���
�����������
"�##�����
���
����������
��
���
��
���
������%
�������
����
����
����
��#����
�
���������
+��"�
��
��5�/


��
��%�"�
��
���
�����
-)��
"������
 �����!
������
�����
���
"������
�
"����"���
����
��
���2��
�#��%
���%������%
"�##�������
��
"������
,�0���/

�������
��>�	?@A���
@�������
B
�A@	�A������?�
������C���D
EFGHGFIG
GJKHLKMN
HKMNOG
PQRKOS
TURGHVD
WMXUYFQNG
FGHLUFQLKUM
UP
QNKMN
TURGH
ZKLT
TKHLUFKX
XTQFQXLGFVD
EFURULG
MGZ
HKMNOG[PQRKOS
FGHK\GMLKQO
\GIGOU]RGML
ZKLT
XTQFQXLGF
LTQL
KH
XUR]QLK̂OG
ZKLT
GJKHLKMN
\GIGOU]RGMLV
D
EFULGXL
GJKHLKMN
LFGG
XQMU]S
QM\
IGNGLQLKUMV
D
_\TGFG
LU
̂GHL
]FQXLKXGH
PUF
HKLG
\GIGOU]RGML
QM\
HLUFRZQLGF
RQMQNGRGML
ZTGM
XUMHLFYXLKMN
KMPKOO
FGHK\GMLKQO
\GIGOU]RGMLV
D
̀LKOKaG
Q
̂QOQMXG\
Q]]FUQXT
LU
XU\G
GMPUFXGRGML
LU
RQKMLQKM
bYQOKLS
\GIGOU]RGML
QM\
XURRYMKLS
XTQFQXLGFV
D
cQKMLQKM
GJKHLKMN
XURRYMKLS
QM\
FGXFGQLKUM
FGHUYFXGH
KM
Q
RQMMGF
LTQL
KH
XUR]QLK̂OG
ZKLT
LTG
FGHK\GMLKQO
XTQFQXLGF
UP
LTG
QFGQVD
dKMNOG
PQRKOS
TUYHKMN
\GIGOU]RGMLD
eKRKLG\
KMHLKLYLKUMQO
OQM\
YHGHf
]FKRQFKOS
GJKHLKMN
XURRYMKLS
PQXKOKLKGHf
HYXT
QH
LTG
gOŶTUYHGf
hGQXT
iUYHGf
QM\
EUOKXG
dLQLKUMjgUYFLTUYHGjgUYMXKO
gTQR̂GFHD
kGXFGQLKUMQO
YHGHf
]FKRQFKOS
GJKHLKMN
PQXKOKLKGH
HYXT
QH
LTG
]ŶOKX
̂GQXTf
LGMMKH
XUYFLHf
]OQSNFUYM\f
GLXV
 D
EUXlGL
]QFlHf
ZTGFG
Q]]FU]FKQLGD
gURRYMKLS
QFLf
ZTGFG
Q]]FU]FKQLGD
mQF\GMHf
PUF
̂ULT
]GFHUMQO
QM\
XURRYMKLS
YHG@��A��n
	���
o���

pq

r


stuv
wx
ytz{
|}~{
�q��
sw���{�{z�t�{
y�}z
���}u{ �������
��������
�����������u�}zu}
�{�twz}�
sw��t��twz



�������������	
����
����
�������	���
�
����
�����������
 ���� ���!"#$% ���&%''$(($% )�������*
+�	�����	������	�



����������	
��
�������������������������������������������������������������������������������� !�����"���#����$�	
���������������%���������������������������
���&����#��"����%������������"���������
������������!���'������
�����%
���
������
�������������'��!���!������������$��(����������������&�������%
���
���������������!���$��(��������&
��������� !�����"���#��������������������������##��#�����)�*+,�����
��#��-�����!���������#������������ ������������!���$��.�%!��������&��
����
������������������#��"�����������������"���#������������"���������#��������%���"�����������'��������"�����������%������!���)�������#
���/��#���������������-����������������������������������)��!������������%
��#���!����$��0���%���������������!������������������������
�����!������������)�����!��������%�����#������������!���'�%��
����%������$��1�23456789:�;3<;==�45>>:74;8=�?:@:=5A>:3B�BC8B�>::BD�BC:�DB83?87?D�83?�7:E6;7:>:3BD�5<�F;3:�G8H:ID�J53;39�7:96=8B;53DK�1�L�>;M�5<�D:7@;4:N�7:B8;=N�83?�5<<;4:�6D:D�BC8B�D:7@:�BC:�O;BP�5<�F;3:�G8H:�83?�;>>:?;8B:�8?Q84:3B�3:;9CR57C55?D1�G;>;B:?�5AA57B63;B;:D�<57�9:3:78=�D:7@;4:�83?S�57�45>>:74;8=�?:@:=5A>:3B�BC8B�483�>::B�BC:�DB83?87?D�83?�7:E6;7:>:3BD�5<�F;3:�G8H:ID�T53;39�7:96=8B;53D1�G;>;B:?�5AA57B63;B;:D�<57�>;M:?�6D:�?:@:=5A>:3B�BC8B�483�>::B�BC:�DB83?87?D�83?�7:E6;7:>:3BD�5<�F;3:�G8H:ID�J53;39�7:96=8B;53DN�;34=6?;39�7:E6;7:>:3BD�<57�353U7:D;?:3B;8=�?:@:=5A>:3B1�23@;753>:3B8==P�D:3D;B;@:�D;B:�?:D;93N�;34=6?;39�A87H;39�DB83?87?D�BC8B�>;3;>;J:�;>A84B�53�BC:�38B678=�:3@;753>:3B�1�G83?D48A;39�83?�@:9:B8B;53�7:E6;7:>:3BD1�V783D;B;53�5<�353U453<57>;39�6D:D�5@:7�B;>:1�W;M�5<�X:B8;=N�Y:7@;4:�83?�Z<<;4:S�F75<:DD;538=�[D:D�8B�8�\:;9CR57C55?�Y48=:1�G;>;B:?�W;M:?U[D:�]X:D;?:3B;8=�̂;BC�Y:7@;4:S�X:B8;=�[D:D_1�F54H:B�F87HD�̀����a���bc�de�e
c�e���c�c�f���̀��bg�̀�gg��be�h���̀����bg�g��b�eg��g�i��e

jk��l���mnop�qr�sntu�vwxu�kykz�mq{|}u~ut�n�u�s�wt��|�wou ����������������������������o�wtow��u�nqtw��mq{{n��nqt



������������	
���
����	������������	������	����	�������	���	��  ��!���	��"	#���"������	�����!���	�����	��!��"��	�	 �$����	��	���%�������"	���&�!�	����	����	��%���	"�����'	����"������	"�&���( ���	����	!���"	��!��"�	������ ��)	��&�*���+	�����)	��"	�� �	���%��*�� ��'	����"������	"�&���( ���,		-��%��	�� ��������	�����	���	����������	�������	���	!�  ��!���	��"	����"������	�����	��	.���	/�+�	�����	(����!���%	���	����"������	!����!���	��	���	!��',		01	234	56	789:3;8	<=>	9873>8=?3<@	A7870B=:395=28=?<@@C	78=73?3:8	73?8	>873D=0E<=>7;<F3=D	<=>	:8D8?<?35=	98GA39828=?70H83DIJ59I55>	K;<@8	K89:3;8	<=>	L95687735=<@	M787N	E323?8>	H83DIJ59I55>	K;<@8	O52289;3<@	M7870P3DI89	Q8=73?C	R873>8=?3<@	M787S	T3?I	<	UV7?59C	I83DI?	@323?<?35=	5=	2A@?3V6<23@C	59	@3:8W	T59X	A=3?70L5;X8?	L<9X7Y��Z��[	���\	��
�\
���
\	\
]
��YZ
��	Y���
���	̂	�ZY�
Z
�������	�����
_�
�

`̀		a			bcde	fg	hcij	klmj	nonp	bfqrsjtjiucvj	hwli	xryldj z{|}~{}	�����~}|	���������~�dwlidl	�j�cfilw	bfqqcuucfi



�������������	
��
����
��������������������������������������������������
�
������������ ���
�����������
!
��"��
���
����#���$
�%���
�&�����������
��� ������������
���
�������
������ ���
�
�������
�����'������������
����
��������������� ���
��%��(�����
��� ���������)**+�������
�
���������
��������������
�������
������������������
������,������ 
��&�

�"�-������

�����
����
%�.��
���������
���

��-������
��
�������
��
��� ���
�����
�������

�����
����
%���
����
�����$

����
�������
���
����
�����"��
���� ������������������������
�-��
���
�
��%���
����
�����$
���
���
�����
�����
��
����
�������������� ��
-�$����
��
�������
���
�������/��
����
%�0
����
���������� ��������
����������������
�����"������� ��
�������-���������
����
�%�
�12��
�
�3��456�	��5�����	1�7�265��6�	���24	�1�����82�19�:;<=<;><�?@A<;�BC@DEAF�@GH�<IJDJKEI@D�L<@DAL�JM�AL<�N@O<�@GH�=JC;I<=�JM�?@A<;�AL@A�=CPPDF�EAQ�9�RG=C;<�;<I;<@AEJG@D�@II<==�SF�;<=EH<GA=�JM�:EG<�N@O<�@GH�EGHE>EHC@D=�M;JT�JCA=EH<�JM�AL<�IJTTCGEAFQ�9�:;JA<IA�=P<IE<=�L@SEA@A�MJ;�@GET@D=�AL@A�DE><�EG�P;JUETEAF�AJ�AL<�N@O<Q�9�V@EGA@EG�AL<�A;@ED�=F=A<T�AL@A�E=�DJI@A<H�AL;JCKL�AL<�?<AD@GH=�AL@A�@;<�@HW@I<GA�AJ�AL<�N@O<Q�9�X<I;<@AEJG9�YEDHDEM<�Z@SEA@A5�26��[���	
�\1�1
]̂��_���̀abc�de�fagh�ijkh�lmln�̀dopqhrhgsath�fujg�vpwjbh xyz{|y{�}~���|{z����������|�bujgbj��h�adgju�̀dooassadg



��������	��
�	
���
�

��
	����
�
��
���������������������� !��"#"$���%&'�(��)�*���+ ��,&- �� ./012/1�34567210�87996::672;�+ �� �<�=��� +���%%�))���



��������������



��������	
��
�����	����
�
�������������	������������������	�����	�����������	�����������
�����	�����	�������	������������������������������ ���!� ������	���	�������������	������
�����!�"��	���
������������	��������	�����	����	���������������� ����#����������������������	���������
����������������	������!$�����%&���������	
��
��	������������$�����	�����	�� ������������	
��
'���	����������
���	���������!�(����������������	���
�������	�����	����	�������	�������	
��
���������������!��$������
�	�� ����#�����	����	��������������	����	����������
����	���	�����������	����������)�
*+,-./0+,*10-�/+0234*.�	���������
��������
!��$����
���5�	�����	����	����	�������	���6	���������6	���7 �	�����%8&�9��	����������������
���������������
!� �	�����%8&���������6	���������6	���:
����	�����	����	��(���	��������;� �����(!��$��������
����	������	��������	�������<�����
���������������
�������<���	���6	���������6	��!�� ��������	�������	�����
�����������������������	�������!��$������	����������	���������	��
����	��:��	�����������7=6�%�9��	�=�	���:	
�����5#���	����6	��!�6	���������6	�������	�������������
������
�
������	����
���	�!

>?��@���ABCD�EF�GBHI�JKLI�MNMO�AEPQRISIHTBUI�GVKH�WQXKCI YCVKHCK�ZI[BEHKV�AEPPBTTBEH



���������



���������	
����
���
������
��
�
������
��
�	��������
�����������
��	
����

�������
��
	����
�����

���
��
�����
��
���	����
��
����	
���
���	
��

��
�

�����
�
��	���	
������������
��

�����
���
�����
��
�����
����������
��	
��������
����
����
�
�������
��
�
��
����
����
�������
��
��
��
���
�����
��
���
���
�����
��
�����
����
�
��	���	
�������
�������������
 !"
��
���
�����
	���
���

������
���������	
����
���
��
������
#�
���������
$%"
��
&�'���
(�����
���
������
��
�
��	���	
����
	���
��
)! $
	���
�
��
���
#�	�
��
(�������������
(���������
*#((+
��	
���
���
���
,
��	���	
(����
�

,
��	���	
��
���
���
����
�
(���
��

-./01-021
033455 ����
6����
�7���	���
���
����
�������
��	
�����
����
����
	���
���
�����	�
��
������
����
��

�
��	���	
��
����
	����������
(���
���������
�����	
����
�������
�
�����
��
�������
�����
��
����������
��
�
,
��	���	
8��	�
(��������
�

	����������
��
����������
��	
	�����������
��
���
���
,
��	���	
8��	�
(��������
������
���
���
���
&���
�����
��
(��������
9����
�
*&(9+
�
���	��
��
�
����
������
��
�����
��
�����������
��
���
�������:
�����:;;�
��	���	����
�������;�
��	���	���������������������������
�������

<=

>


?@AB
CD
E@FG
HIJG
KLKM
?CNOPGQGFR@SG
ETIF
UOVIAG WXYZ[XZ
\]̂_̀[ZY
àbb_cc_̀[dATIFAI
eGf@CFIT
?CNN@RR@CF



��������������	���
��	��

�	���	���
���������������������

��
��
�������
������
�������	���


��	��������������	
����
���������������
��������
���
�����
�������������������� �
���
����
�	�����������������
�������
�������������������������
��
�����
����

	�����
�!"�#�$%������������&'()*+,-�.&&,// ����������
�����
���������	��������0����%
�������	�������
�
�����
���
���

��	�	��������
���
�����
���
��������������	��

�������������������	
������0�����

�
������������	�����
��������	��1�
�����%�
��
�$��	���������1�
�����1������������

�����	�����%
��������
�
����������

23�456789�:;<=3�>?@:A�B6C�D8E<FG�H6I75J�KL�MNJO7P�56�QNO;P8�5R8�DOPO5<F�DOSO;83T�45<58M8UR3�V<NUR�WX9�WYW23Z[��\���]̂_̀�ab�ĉde�fghe�i[ij�]aklmenedôpe�cqgd�rlsg_e tuvwxuw�yz{|}xwv�~}��|��|}x�_qgd_g��e�̂adgq�]akk̂oôad



��������	��
�	
���
�

��
	����
�
��
���������������������� !��"#"����$%&�'��(�)���* ��+%, �� -./01.0�2345610/�7688599561



�����������		�
���
�
���




����������	�
���
�

������������������������������ ����!"#$%&' (')'*+ ,#'%+-./,/01.�2-3-4/!0-,5�6-2789:;<9<=>�>?<�=<@�AB99<CADE;�FB=D=G�C<GH;E>DB=I�>B�J<K<;B:�LHID=<II<I�E;B=G�MBANLCDJG<�MBEJO� PQRSTUVUW XJB:><J�YZ[\O�W<K<;B:�E�;B=G]><C9�E==<̂E>DB=�:;E=�_BC�>?<�PD>̀O�� PQRSTUVUW RE::<J�:BIIDL;<�E==<̂E>DB=�EC<EI�E=J�:CDBCD>DF<J�EC<EIOW<K<;B:�E=J�D9:;<9<=>�E�AB99H=D>̀�EC>Ia�:HL;DA�EC>I�9EI><C�:;E=�_BC�>?<�AD>̀ PQRSTUVUW UI>EL;DI?<J�RH=DAD:E;�XC>I�SE=<;�bRXScO�UI>EL;DI?<J�;BAE;�GCE=>�_H=J�bL<>@<<=�;BAE;�GBKd>�E=J�LHIID=<II<Ic�>?E>�DI�E@ECJ<J�E==HE;;̀�>B�;BAE;�EC>DI>IO�PC<E><J�:HL;DA�EC>I�:B;DÀ�E=J�J<IDG=E><J�>@B�I:EA<I�_BC�JDI:;ÈD=G�:HL;DA�EC>O�PC<E><J�:HL;DA�EC>�:EG<�B=�AD>̀�@<LID><�?DG?;DG?>D=G�?DI>BCDAE;�E=J�AHCC<=>�;BAE;�EC>OeH::BC>�>?<�J<K<;B:9<=>�B_�AB99H=D>̀�EC>I�:CBGCE99D=G�>B�IH::BC>�AB99H=D>̀�<AB=B9DA�J<K<;B:9<=>O� PQRSTUVUW UI>EL;DI?<J�RH=DAD:E;�XC>I�SE=<;�bRXScO�UI>EL;DI?<J�MBANLCDJG<�Q::BC>H=D>̀�fDAN�e>EC><CI�bMQfec�@D>?�E�:CD9EC̀�GBE;�>B�HI<�>?<�EC>I�>B�IH::BC>�AB99H=D>̀�<AB=B9DA�J<K<;B:9<=>O./00g,15h�ij.14151-(�j,2�(-k31.-(�6.i(7lBCN�@D>?�mWQV�E=J�W<fE;L�PBH=>̀�>B�D9:;<9<=>�ABCCDJBC�D9:CBK<9<=>I�B=�MBANLCDJG<�MBEJ�bSCBn<A>�o[pqZcO� rsWUMlXt VB�L<�AB9:;<><J�lD=><C�YZYYO�e<<�Pue�Z[O�lBCN�>B@ECJ�>?<�GBE;�B_�:CBKDJD=G�Yq]?BHC�:B;DA<�I<CKDA<I�>?CBHG?�>?<�;BAE;�:B;DA<�J<:EC>9<=>O� PXsPUTUW e<<�Pue�ZYO�M<J<_D=<J�D=�YZY[�PlSO�r=J<C>EN<�89:CBK<9<=>I�>B�>?<�><==DI�ABHC>I�� PXsPUTUW SCB:BI<J�ACB@JIBHCAD=G�<__BC>I�JDJ�=B>�BAAHCO�r:JE><�E=J�<̂:E=J�GE><@È�E=J�@È_D=JD=G�IDG=EG<�>?CBHG?BH>�>?<�AB99H=D>̀ rsWUMlXt e<<�Pue�ZvOPC<E><�E�AB99D>><<�>B�<̂:;BC<�>?<�:BIIDLD;D>̀�B_�J<K<;B:D=G�E�A?EC><C�IA?BB;�>?E>�ABH;J�I<CK<�>?<�SD=<�TEN<�AB99H=D>̀O PXsPUTUW TEAN�B_�:HL;DA�D=><C<I>�_BC�:HCIHD=G�<__BC>�@D>?�=B�IA?BB;�_EAD;D>D<I�;BAE><J�@D>?D=�AD>̀�;D9D>Iw�D=AC<EI<J�?B9<�IA?BB;D=Gw�E=J�;EAN�B_�D=><C<I>�_CB9�IHCCBH=JD=G�AB99H=D>̀�E=J�W<fE;L�PBH=>̀�eA?BB;�èI><9OÛ:;BC<�>?<�AC<E>DB=�B_�EJJD>DB=E;�AB99H=D>̀�;<K<;�AB99D>><<I�>B�EJJC<II�DIIH<I�IHA?�EI�J<K<;B:9<=>w�EC>I�E=J�AH;>HC<w�E=J�<;J<C�E__EDCI PQRSTUVUW UI>EL;DI?<J�RH=DAD:E;�XC>I�SE=<;�bRXScw�e><@ECJI�_BC�U=KDCB=9<=>E;�UJHAE>DB=�E=J�W<IDG=�beUUWcw�MBANLCDJG<�Q::BC>H=D>̀�fDANI>EC><C�bMQfecw�E=J�e<=DBCI�E=J�TE@�U=_BCA<9<=>�VBG<>?<C�beXTVcO�xy��z���{|}~�����|�������������{���������|������������}� ���������������������������



���������	
���	
������



����������	�
���
�

�������������������������������� !"#$%&' ()(( ()(* ()(+ ()(, ()(- .%/0#1/234%�!5"'67#/'�8/'295'%87:;:<=7�>8?8@:!<8;A�B8>CDE�FGHIJKLMNO�KLLPKQ�RQOKL�PS�KQTLJ�UTRVWIMXJO�UTKX�YMZ[�IO\MXOLZ\�KLX�WP\MLO\\�TYLOI\]� ^ ^ ^ ^ UH_̀ Z̀Kaa�bMcOd�efFF�aTI�JKIWKJO�WKJ\�KLX�YKZOI�KLX�\LKRV\�aTI�gTQPLZOOI\�DE�FhiIOKZO�\OL\O�Ta�SQKRO�TL�UTRVWIMXJO�UTKX�MLRQPXMLJ�WOLR[\d�XM\SQKj�WKLLOI\d�cPIKQd�KLX�klTQO�mIZk�SITnORZ] ^ ^ ^ UH_̀d�iMZj�iTPLRMQ Z̀Kaa�bMcOd�ETLKZOX�oPLX\d�pOLOIKQ�oPLXDE�FqHIJKLMNO�KLLPKQ�iTccPLMZj�KLX�rP\MLO\\�HYLOI\�JOZsZTJOZ[OId�\ZKIZMLJ�YMZ[�rrt�ML�lTSQKI�lKIV�ML�hFhG] ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ UH_̀d�̀ZKaa Z̀Kaa�ZMcOd�ueGdfFFDE�FvwLRIOK\O�SKIZMRMSKZMTL�Ta�WP\MLO\\�TYLOI\�nTMLMLJ�TI�KZZOLXMLJ�UTRVWIMXJO�HSSTIZPLMZj�_MRV�̀ZKIZOI\�xUH_̀y�cOOZMLJ\]� z ^ ^ ^ UH_̀� Z̀Kaa�bMcO�7:<<{;=A|�}~7=@=A=8��~;>��8.?=78��B7}�Ciò�FG �TIV�YMZ[�pEHb�KLX�EO_KQW�iTPLZj�ZT�McSQOcOLZ�RTIIMsXTI�McSITgOcOLZ\�TL�UTRVWIMXJO�UTKX�xlITnORZ��G�vFy]� ^ ^ Z̀Kaad�pEHbd�EO_KQW�iTPLZjoPLX\�[KgO�WOOL�KQQTRKZOX�ZT�Z[M\�SITnORZd�MLRQPXMLJ�K�bD�JIKLZ�ZIKL\aOIIOX�aITc�lMLO��KVO�ZT�EO_KQW�iTPLZjiò�Fh wLRIOK\O�̀OLMTI\�KLX��KY�DLaTIROcOLZ�bTJOZ[OI�x̀m�by�cOcWOI\[MS�KLX�OzSKLX�KRZMgMZMO\]�� ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ iMZj�iTPLRMQd�lTQMRO�EOSKIZcOLZ pOLOIKQ�oPLXiò�Fq �SXKZO�KLX�OzSKLX�JKZOYKj�KLX�YKjaMLXMLJ�\MJLKJO�Z[ITPJ[TPZ�Z[O�RTccPLMZj] ^ ^ iMZj�iTPLRMQ iKSMZKQ�wcSITgOcOLZ�oPLX�xehFdFFFyiò�Fv EOgOQTS�LOY�lTSQKI�lKIV�MLZT�K�RTccPLMZj�JKZ[OIMLJ�KLX�OgOLZ�\SKRO] ^ ^ ^ UH_̀d��TQPLZOOI\d�̀ZKaad�iMZj�iTPLRMQ iKSMZKQ�wcSITgOcOLZ�oPLXd��pIKLZ�oPLX\d�ETLKZOX�oPLX\iò�Ff EOgOQTS�aPZPIO�\OIgMRO�XOQMgOIj�KLX�aPLXMLJ�STQMRMO\�Z[ITPJ[�KLKQj\M\�Ta�iMZj�TSOIKZMLJ�aPLRZMTL\�KLX�WPXJOZ] ^ ^ iMZj�iTPLRMQd�̀ZKaad��TQPLsZOOI\d�ST\\MWQj�iTL\PQZKLZ\�iMZj�iTPLRMQ�KLX�̀ZKaa�bMcOd�iTL\PQZKLZ\�xefdFFF�s�eGFdFFFyiò�F� oTQQTYsPS�TL�iTccPLMZj�iTLgOI\KZMTL\�ZT�XOgOQTS�K�SQKL�ZT�\ZIOLJZ[OL�Z[O�kHLO�iMZjd��KLj��TMRO\dk�SIMLRMSQO\] ^ ^ ^ ^ iMZj�iTPLRMQd�̀ZKaad��TQPLZOOI\ iMZj�iTPLRMQ�KLX�̀ZKaa�bMcOd�ST\\MWQO�pOLOIKQ�oPLX�xefdFFF�s�eGFdFFFyiò�F� EOgOQTS�aMgOsjOKI�RKSMZKQ�RTccPLMZj�McSITgOcOLZ�SQKL]� ^ iMZj�iTPLRMQd�̀ZKaad��ST\\MsWQj�iTL\PQZKLZ\�� Z̀Kaa�bMcOd�iTL\PQZKLZ\�xefdFFF�s�eGFdFFFyiò�F� rOJML�McSQOcOLZKZMTL�Ta�aMgOsjOKI�RKSMZKQ�SQKL] ^ ^ ^ iMZj�iTPLRMQd�̀ZKaad��ST\\MsWQj�iTL\PQZKLZ\�� l̀�H̀b�oPLX\d�iKSMZKQ�wcSITgOcOLZ�oPLX\d�̀ZTIc��KZOI��ZMQMZjd�pIKLZ�KLX��TKL�oPLX\iò�F� iTcSQOZO�XKc�cKMLZOLKLRO�KLX�IOSKMI��SITnORZ] ^ ^ ^ iMZj�iTPLRMQd�̀ZKaad�iTL\PQZKLZ\]�� Z̀Kaa�bMcOd�iTL\PQZKLZ\�xeGFdFFFy]�iTL\ZIPRZMTL�RTgOIOX�Wj�̀ZTIcYKZOI��ZMQMZj�KLX�pIKLZ�KLX��TKL�oPLX\]������������������������������������������ ¡�¢����� �£�¤��� ¥��� ���¦���� ��������¡¡�� 

























 
 

 

This correspondence is provided in response to inquiries regarding the implementation of 
Pine Lake Ordinance 2024-05, Registry and Regulation of Short-Term Rentals. 

Since adoption, staff has taken initial steps toward implementation, including, review of 
administrative requirements, and identification of enforcement and compliance 
considerations specific to the City’s size and operational capacity. As with many regulatory 
ordinances, effective implementation requires a phased approach to ensure consistency, 
fairness, and legal compliance. 

Key considerations currently being addressed include: 

• Establishment and maintenance of a short-term rental registry; 

• Verification of ownership, local contact requirements, and compliance with 
applicable safety standards; 

• Coordination among Police, Code Enforcement, and Administrative functions; 

• Development of clear, defensible procedures for complaint intake, monitoring, and 
enforcement; and 

• Public communication to ensure owners and residents clearly understand 
ordinance requirements and expectations. 

At this stage, staff is focused on ensuring the ordinance is implemented in a manner that is 
enforceable, sustainable, and aligned with available resources. Police and Code 
Compliance are actively reviewing software solutions capable of supporting a functional 
and reliable registry. 

Staff remains committed to executing the intent of Ordinance 2024-05 while maintaining 
public safety, protecting neighborhood quality of life, and preserving administrative 
integrity. Updates will continue to be provided as implementation progresses. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Sarai Y’hudah-Green 
Chief of Police 



Ordinance 2024-05 Draft 08 13 2024 1 

ORDINANCE NO. 2024-05 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING CODE OF THE CITY OF PINE LAKE TO AUTHORIZE, REGULATE 
AND LIMIT THE OPERATION OF RESIDENTIAL SHORT-TERM  RENTALS WITHIN THE CITY OF PINE LAKE AS 
A SPECIAL USE IN THE R-1 DISTRICT AND THE COMMERCIAL DISTRICT TRANSITIONAL SUBAREA; 
AMENDING THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF PINE LAKE TO LICENSE, REGULATE AND LIMIT 
THE OPERATION OF RESIDENTIAL SHORT-TERM  RENTALS WITHIN THE CITY OF PINE LAKE IN THE R-1 
DISTRICT AND THE COMMERCIAL DISTRICT TRANSITIONAL SUBAREA; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 
PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING ORDINANCES; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE OF THIS 
RESOLUTION, AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

WHEREAS, The City of Pine Lake ("City") is a municipal corporation duly organized and existing under the 
laws of the State of Georgia and is charged with providing public services to residents and businesses 
located within the corporate limits of the City and to provide for the public health, safety and welfare of 
residents, businesses and the community at large; and,  

WHEREAS, the City is charged with promoting and preserving the environment and quality of life that 
are important and valuable assets of the City central to the City’s identity, activities, economics and 
culture; and  

WHEREAS, short-term rentals (STRs) may provide additional income to a property owner; and 

WHEREAS, the City’s land use and zoning ordinances do not allow the use of property in the R-1 zone to 
as STRs except as allowed under the definition of “family” for roommate or house share arrangements; 
and 

WHEREAS, the City’s land use and zoning ordinances allow bed and breakfasts in the Commercial 
Transitional zone and allow hotels and inns in the Village Commercial zone; and  

WHEREAS, there are currently no hotels, motels, inns, lodges, rooming houses, bed and breakfasts, or 
other businesses by whatever name known located within the City compliant with the City’s land use 
regulations and properly permitted for use as short term rentals; and 

WHEREAS, the proliferation of short-term rentals in a community can exacerbate the existing shortage of 
affordable long-term housing; and 

WHEREAS, a property regularly used as a short-term rental rather than a residence acts as a hotel and 
introduces a commercial use into an area where it may be incompatible; and 

WHEREAS, according to the 2020 United States Decennial Census, there are 400 housing units and 429 
households within the city limits; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council want to mitigate any negative impact caused by use and 
occupancy of short-term rentals on a community as small and densely populated as the City of Pine Lake 
and prevent the residential character of the City from being changed by the conversion of housing units 
into commercial, transient accommodations; and 

WHEREAS, the market for and regulation of STRs continues to evolve rapidly and the Mayor and City 
Council desire to be able to respond to changing conditions by use of annual permits; and 



Ordinance 2024-05 Draft 08 13 2024 2 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council seek to strengthen and foster community identity and preserve 
the residential character of the R zoning districts; 

 

NOW THEREFORE, THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PINE LAKE HEREBY ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS:  

 

SECTION 1. 

Article 5, Section 5-3 of the City of Pine Lake Zoning Code is amended by clarifying and revising the 
definition of “Accessory dwelling” as follows: 

“Accessory dwelling: A secondary dwelling unit located on the same lot as the principal dwelling unit, the 
use of which is incidental to that of the principal building on the same lot. An accessory dwelling unit 
must be one of the following dwelling types: 

a. In-home accessory dwelling: Located within a principal single-family dwelling, including a unit above 
an attached garage. 

b. Garage accessory dwelling: Located above a detached garage. 

c. Outbuilding accessory dwelling: Located in an accessory building that is not a garage.” 

 

SECTION 2. 

Article 5, Section 5-3 of the City of Pine Lake Zoning Code is further amended by revising the definition of 
“Family” as follows: 

“Family: One or more persons occupying a single dwelling or lodging unit such as a hotel room, provided 
that, unless all members are related by blood, marriage, civil union or adoption, no such family shall 
contain over four persons, with the following exceptions. 

• In a single-family and duplex dwelling unit a maximum of two rooms may be occupied by a 
total of two or less individuals per room, who may also board with the family who may be compensated 
for accommodating the renter, for month or longer periods. The purpose of this provision is to allow a 
limited number of long-term roommates to share a dwelling rather than to permit transient or short-
term lodging use.  

• Accessory dwellings, as permitted under R Districts and other districts, are considered a 
separate dwelling, which are permitted to house no more than three persons unrelated by blood, 
marriage, civil union or adoption; and may not house boarders in addition to the family. 

• Group homes meeting the definition of this ordinance are considered a "family" 

• The term "family" shall not be construed to mean fraternity, sorority, club, student center, and 
similar uses, and is distinguished from persons occupying lodging in a hotel, inn or boarding/rooming 
house as herein defined.” 



Ordinance 2024-05 Draft 08 13 2024 3 

 

SECTION 3. 

Said article and section is further amended by revising the definition of “Lodging” as follows:  

“Lodging: Living quarters for a family which are rented, leased, or otherwise provided by the owner for a 
definite period of time, which includes hotels, inns, and rooming/boarding houses, and is not permitted 
in any R-district. This definition shall exclude the limited lodging permitted under the definition of 
"family" and shall exclude compliant “short-term rentals”. See Family.” 

 

SECTION 4. 

Said article and section is further amended by inserting the definitions of “Short-term rental”, “Short-
term rental agent”, “Short-term rental guests”, “Short-term rental owner”, “Short-term rental license” 
and “Short-term rental special use permit” after the definition of “Self-storage” and before the definition 
of “Sidewalk arcade” as follows: 

“Short-term rental shall mean the use of a single family or duplex residential dwelling or a legal accessory 
dwelling to a single family or duplex residential dwelling which, in exchange for compensation, 
accommodations are provided for lodging for a period not to exceed thirty (30) consecutive days. On any 
lot there shall be no more than two dwelling units available for short-term rental consisting of no more 
than the primary single family or duplex residential dwelling and one accessory dwelling. 

Short-term rental agent shall mean a natural person designated by the owner on the short-term rental 
permit application and authorized by the owner to respond to questions, concerns or emergencies at the 
short-term rental property. Such a person shall be available to contact at all times.  

Short-term rental guests shall mean renters, tourists, vacationers or any other natural person who, in 
exchange for compensation, occupies a short-term rental.  

Short-term rental license shall mean the annual license issued or renewed by the City to the owner of a 
short-term rental pursuant to Chapter 38, Article VII of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Pine Lake. 

Short-term rental owner shall mean the owner of record of the property and any person who, directly or 
indirectly, controls, is controlled by or under common control with the owner of record.  

Short-term rental permit shall be the permit issued by the City to the owner of a short-term rental unit 
for the establishment and operation of that particular short-term rental.” 

 

SECTION 5. 

Article 8 of the City of Pine Lake Zoning Code is amended by inserting in the chart in Section 8-3 under 
“Lodging Uses” that “Short-term rentals” are allowed with a Special Use permit (SUP) in the Transitional 
Commercial District and are prohibited (X) in the Village Commercial District. 

 



Ordinance 2024-05 Draft 08 13 2024 4 

 

 

 

SECTION 6. 

Article 11 of the City of Pine Lake Zoning Code is amended by inserting a new Section 11-11, “Special Use 
Permit for Short-term Rental”, to read as follows: 

“11-11. Special Use Permit for Short-Term Rental. 

A. Definitions: See Article 5, Section 5-3 of the City of Pine Lake Zoning Code. 
 

B. General provisions. 

In addition to all other provisions applicable to special use permits, the following provisions shall apply 
to the establishment and operation of a short-term rental: 

1. Permit required. No person shall rent, lease or otherwise exchange for compensation a short-
term rental, as defined in this Code, without first obtaining a special use permit and a separate license 
from the city and complying with the regulations contained in this article and in Chapter 38, Article VII. 
No permit issued under this Section and Section 11-12 may be transferred, assigned or used by any 
person other than the one to whom it is issued, or at any location other than the one for which it is 
issued. Each license is a limited, short-term license and subject to annual renewal. Such license shall be 
applied for only after receipt of a special use permit for a short-term rental. 

2.  Maximum capacity. Maximum capacity of a short-term rental shall be eight (8) guests. 

3. Length of stay. The length of stay for any short-term rental guest shall not exceed thirty (30) 
consecutive days. At least a seven (7) day period must interrupt consecutive thirty (30) day short-term 
rental occupancy. 

4. Lots. On any lot there shall be no more than two dwelling units available for short-term rental 
consisting of no more than the primary single family or duplex residential dwelling and one accessory 
dwelling to the single family or duplex residential dwelling. The special use permit will to apply to the lot 
and to both dwellings on the lot if there are more than one. 

5. Ownership. A short-term rental owner may only hold a permit applicable to one lot at any one 
time. 

6. Residential character. The residential character and exterior appearance of a dwelling in which 
short-term rentals may be established shall not be altered. 

7. Agent. The short-term rental agent shall occupy a dwelling within Dekalb, Gwinnett, Fulton, 
Cobb, Rockdale or Clayton County any time such rental is occupied by guests.   

8.  Zoning districts allowing short-term rentals. Short-term rentals shall be allowed only in an R-1 
Single-family Residential District or in the Commercial (C) District Transitional Commercial Subarea, 
subject to the standards of this article and the approval of a special use permit.  



Ordinance 2024-05 Draft 08 13 2024 5 

9.  Lodging tax and other taxes. Short-term rentals shall be subject to payment of hotel and 
lodging accommodations taxes as applied to other lodging facilities and to all other applicable taxes, 
licenses and fees. 

10. Business and accounting records of the short-term rental must be maintained by the short-term 
rental property owner and the short-term rental agent for a minimum of five years and shall be 
made available to the city upon request to verify compliance with conditions of special use 
permit and short-term rental license. 

 

11. A short-term rental owner holding a permit is not authorized to transfer the right to operate a 
short-term rental under any permit issued pursuant to this article to any other person or entity by lease, 
sale, agreement, contract or any other means.  

12.  No permit issued under this article may be used or shall have any legal effect at any location 
other than those identified on the application and for which such permit has been issued.  

13. At any one time the number lots that can have a special use permit for short-term rentals in 
the City of Pine Lake shall not exceed 20. Once that number has been reached, no additional short term 
rental permits will be issued and new permits will only be available if an existing permit is revoked or 
lapses. 

14. Nothing in this article shall be deemed to alter, affect, supersede or conflict with the 
requirements of any state or federal law or the City of Pine Lake Code of Ordinances. 

15. Short-term rental agent. 

a. The owner of a short-term rental shall designate a short-term rental agent on the 
application for a short-term rental permit. A short-term rental owner may also serve 
as the short-term rental agent and may receive any notice from the city in addition 
to or in lieu of the agent.  
 

b. The duties of the short-term rental agent shall be as follows:  
i. Be available at all times to address any problems arising from use of the 

short-term rental;  
 

ii. Occupy a dwelling in DeKalb, Gwinnett, Fulton, Cobb, Rockdale or 
Clayton County at any time the short-term rental is occupied by guests; 

 
 

iii. Post such natural person’s name, dwelling address and emergency 
contact phone number in a readily visible location in the short-term 
rental;  

iv.   Receive and accept service of any notice of violation related to the use 
or occupancy of the short-term rental; and  

v. Monitor the short-term rental for compliance with this Chapter. 



Ordinance 2024-05 Draft 08 13 2024 6 

16.  The short-term rental owner shall submit any documentation required by O.C.G.A. § 50-36-1 
and any other applicable state law, as well as any other information that this article requires the short-
term rental owner or agent to provide to the City of Pine Lake as part of an application for a permit. The 
city manager or their designee shall have the authority to obtain additional information from the 
applicant as necessary to achieve the objectives of this article. 

17. The short-term rental owner shall attach the following exhibits to the application described 
in this section: 

a. Written rules to be posted in the short-term rental, including:  

i. Acknowledgement that it shall be unlawful to violate ordinances of the City of Pine 
Lake;  

ii. Acknowledgement and agreement that violations of this article or ordinances of the 
city may result in immediate termination of the agreement and eviction from the 
short-term rental by the owner or agent, as well as the potential liability for 
payment of fines levied by the City; and 

iii. Information about dates, methods and procedures applicable to trash and garbage 
pick-up. 

b. Evidence that the short-term rental permit owner has provided notification via certified 
United States mail to each adjacent property owner of record of their intent to secure a short-
term rental permit. This notification shall include the physical address and mailing address of the 
unit to be used as a short-term rental and the name, physical address, mailing address, phone 
number and email address of the short-term rental agent.” 

 

SECTION 7. 

Article 11 of the City of Pine Lake Zoning Code is further amended by inserting a new Section 11-
12, “Short-term Rental Regulations”, to read as follows: 

 

“Section 11-12. - Short-term rental regulations. 

A. The owner of a short-term rental shall not be entitled to place any sign on the premises. A 
legible copy of the short-term rental permit shall be posted within the short-term rental and 
include the following information: 
 

1. Name, physical address, mailing address, phone number and email address of the 
short-term rental agent;  
2. Short-term rental unit license number;  
3. Maximum occupancy of the short-term rental; and 
4. The written rules submitted with the application for the special use permit. 

B.    The short-term rental owner shall notify the City of Pine Lake in writing of any change in 
rental agent within ten (10) business days of such change. 



Ordinance 2024-05 Draft 08 13 2024 7 

C.  The Pine Lake Police Department may notify the owner and/or agent of a short-term rental 
of all instances in which behavior of the rental guest or the conduct of the short-term rental 
agent or owner results in a citation for a code violation or other legal infraction. The Pine 
Lake Police Department may maintain a record of all violations of city code occurring at or 
relating to a short-term rental.  

 
C. The city may notify the owner and/or agent of failure to comply with this article. For such 

noncompliance the city may revoke any existing permit and reject all short-term rental permit 
applications for that particular short-term rental or submitted by the owner of that property for 
a period of twelve (12) consecutive months. Each day a short-term rental is out of compliance 
with this ordinance shall be deemed a separate violation.  

D. The special use permit will lapse if no short-term rental license is received for the lot within 
twelve (12) months of permit issuance or if the licensed dwelling is not used as a short-term rental 
within twelve (12) months of permit issuance. 

 
E. Except as provided herein, any person violating the provisions of the City Code shall be 

punished as provided by Section 1-9 of the City of Pine Lake Code of Ordinances. With 
respect to violations that are continuous with respect to time, each day the violation 
continues shall be deemed a separate offense.  

 
F. A person aggrieved by a decision of the city manager of the City of Pine Lake to revoke, 

suspend or deny a short-term rental permit may appeal the decision in writing to the Mayor 
and City Council. An appeal must be filed within thirty (30) calendar days following the 
adverse action and shall contain a concise and complete statement of the reasons for the 
appeal. The Mayor and City Council shall consider and respond to the appeal in writing 
within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt. The decision of the Mayor and City Council may 
be appealed to the Superior Court of DeKalb County. Except as otherwise provided in this 
section, Article 14 of the Zoning Code of the City of Pine Lake shall apply.” 

SECTION 8. 

Article 14 of the City of Pine Lake Zoning Code is amended by inserting a new Section 14-7 regarding 
appeals to read as follows: 

“14-7. Authority to approve form and accept service. 

The city manager shall have the authority to approve or issue any form or certificate necessary to perfect 
an appeal and is designated and authorized to accept of any such petition for review.  Service of a 
petition for review may be made by service on the city manager.” 

SECTION 9. 

Chapter 38 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Pine Lake is amended by adding a new Article VII 
titled “Short-term Rental License” and including the following: 

“38-100.  



Ordinance 2024-05 Draft 08 13 2024 8 

A. Definitions in Article 5, Section 5-3 of the City of Pine Lake Zoning Code are applicable in this 
article. For purposes of this article, “licensee” shall mean the short-term rental owner. 
 

B. Before the processing or renewal of a short-term rental license shall commence all 
outstanding and past due fees, property taxes, and other bills and lawful assessments from 
the city or DeKalb County pertaining to the subject property must be paid in full or on a 
payment plan.  
 

C. Applicants for a short-term rental license shall submit an application for a short-term rental 
license to the city manager. The application shall be accompanied by a non-refundable 
application fee in the amount of $100.00. Such application shall include: 
 
1. Physical address of the short-term rental;  

 

2. Name, physical address and, if different, mailing address, phone number and email 
address of the short-term rental owner;  

 
3. Name, physical address and, if different, mailing address, phone number and email 

address of the short-term rental agent, which shall constitute such natural person’s 24-
hour contact information;  

 
4. Short-term rental owner and agent’s signed acknowledgement that they have reviewed 

this Chapter and understands its requirements;  

5. Short-term rental owner and agent’s agreement to use best efforts to assure that use of 
the short-term rental will not disrupt the neighborhood, and will not interfere with the 
rights of neighboring property owners to the quiet enjoyment of their properties;  

6. Any documentation required by O.C.G.A. § 50-36-1 and any other applicable state law; 
and 

7. Any other information that this article requires the short-term rental owner or agent to 
provide to the City of Pine Lake as part of an application for a license. The city manager 
or their designee shall have the authority to obtain additional information from the 
applicant as necessary to achieve the objectives of this article. 

D.  The short-term rental owner applying for the license shall attach the following exhibits to the 
application described in this section: 

1. Written rules posted in the short-term rental, including, but not limited to:  

a. Acknowledgement that it shall be unlawful to violate ordinances of the City of Pine 
Lake;  

b. Acknowledgement and agreement that violations of this article may result in 
immediate termination of the agreement and eviction from the short-term rental by 



Ordinance 2024-05 Draft 08 13 2024 9 

the owner or agent, as well as the potential liability for payment of fines levied by 
the City; and 

c. Information about dates, methods and procedures applicable to trash and garbage 
pick-up. 

2. Evidence that the short-term rental permit owner or agent has provided notification via 
certified United States mail to each adjacent property owner of their intent to secure a short-
term rental license. This notification shall include the physical address and, if different, the 
mailing address of the unit to be used as a short-term rental and the name, physical address, 
mailing address, phone number and email address of the short-term rental owner and agent. 

E. Each license is a limited, short-term license subject to annual renewal. Such license shall be applied for 
only after the property owner has received a special use permit for operation of the short-term rental. 

F. No license issued under this article may be transferred, assigned or used by any person other than the 
one to whom it is issued, or at any location other than the one for which it has been issued. A license 
holder is not authorized to transfer the right to operate a short-term rental under any license issued 
pursuant to this article to any other person or entity by lease, sale, agreement, contract or any other 
means. 

G. On any lot there shall be no more than two dwelling units available for short-term rental consisting of 
no more than the primary single family or duplex residential dwelling and one accessory dwelling to such 
single family or duplex residential dwelling. The short-term rental license will apply to the dwellings 
identified in the license application and may be granted for both dwellings on the lot if there are more 
than one. 

H. A short-term rental owner may only hold a license applicable to one lot at any one time. 

I. At any one time the number of licensed short-term rental units in the City of Pine Lake shall not exceed 
20 dwelling units/5% of the residential housing units in the City of Pine Lake according to the most 
recent United States Decennial Census. Where two short-term rentals are licensed on one lot, they shall 
each count as one. Once the prescribed limit has been reached, no additional short term rental licenses 
will be issued, and new licenses will only be available if an existing license is revoked or lapses. 

 

Section 38-101. - Short-term rental agent. 

A. The owner of a short-term rental shall designate a short-term rental agent on the application for 
a short-term rental license. A short-term rental owner may also serve as the short-term rental 
agent. A short-term rental owner may also serve as the short-term rental agent and may receive 
any notice from the city in addition to or in lieu of the agent.  

 
B. The duties of the short-term rental agent shall be as follows:  

i. Be available at all times to address any problems arising from use of the short-
term rental;  

ii. Occupy a dwelling with DeKalb, Gwinnett, Fulton, Cobb, Clayton or Rockdale 
County at any time the short-term rental is occupied by guests; 



Ordinance 2024-05 Draft 08 13 2024 10 

iii. Post such natural person’s name and emergency contact phone number in a 
readily visible location in the short-term rental unit;  

iv.  Receive and accept service of any notice of violation related to the use or 
occupancy of the short-term rental; and   

v.  Monitor the short-term rental for compliance with this article. 

 

Section 38-102. - Grant or denial of application. 

Review of an application shall be conducted by the city manager in accordance with due process 
principles and shall be granted unless the applicant fails to meet the conditions, regulations and 
requirements of this article or federal or state law or local ordinance related to operation of a short-term 
rental, or otherwise fails to demonstrate the ability to comply with local, state and federal law through 
operation of the proposed short-term rental. Any material false statement or misinformation provided in 
the application shall be grounds for revocation, suspension and/or imposition of penalties, including 
denial of future applications.  

Section 38-103. Annual license renewal. 

Each short-term rental license shall be for the calendar year unless otherwise specifically provided. The 
license shall be due and payable annually within 30 days of January 1st of each year and shall, if not paid 
by May 1st of each year, be subject to a penalty of ten percent of the tax or fee due. For any new short-
term rental operating in the city before July of any year, the license shall be delinquent if not obtained 
immediately upon beginning business and a penalty imposed of $250.00 if not paid within ninety days 
from the date business is commenced. Any license not renewed prior to May 1st shall be suspended and 
may be revoked by the city manager. 

Section 38-104. Grounds for suspension, revocation, nonrenewal, or lapse. 

A. Any license that has been issued by the city may be suspended, revoked or denied renewal for due 
cause as hereinafter defined. "Due cause," for purposes of this section shall include, but not be limited 
to: 

1. Conviction (to include a plea of guilty or nolo contendre) by local, state or federal authorities 
of the short-term rental owner or agent for any felony, or any misdemeanor involving moral turpitude, or 
any law, regulation or ordinance involving tax law violations;  

2. Any violation of this article by the short-term rental owner or agent; 

3. Material falsification of any fact given in application for a license issued under this article or 
bearing upon the licensee's qualification therefor, or any act which may be construed as a subterfuge in 
an effort to circumvent any of the qualifications for a license under this article; 

4. The licensed short-term rental owner or agent fails to properly account for, file, report and/or 
maintain any records and/or remit or pay any renewal license fee imposed, sales taxes, or excise taxes 
required under the city ordinances, state law or federal law; or 



Ordinance 2024-05 Draft 08 13 2024 11 

5. Conduct of the licensed business in such a manner as to require excessive police monitoring 
or response to preserve the public order and secure compliance with federal, state and local laws and 
ordinances, including in section 38-106(c) below. 

B. With respect to this section, it shall be presumed that the act was done with the knowledge or 
consent of the owner or agent; provided, however, that such presumption may be rebutted only by 
evidence which precludes every other reasonable hypothesis save that such owner and agent did not 
know, assist or aide in such occurrence, or in the exercise of due diligence could not have discovered or 
prevented such activity. 

C. The license shall be considered to be null and void, and to have lapsed if the licensed dwelling is not 
used as a short-term rental within twelve (12) months of license issuance. 

 

Sec. 38-105. - Notice of hearing; hearing; appeal. 

A. Action to suspend, revoke, or reject renewal shall be commenced by the city manager making written 
recommendation to the mayor and city council and giving written notice to the licensee, either by 
certified mail, return receipt requested, or by personal service upon licensee or such licensee’s rental 
agent at the licensed location, stating the grounds therefor, and the date, time and place such matter will 
be heard by the mayor and city council. Notice shall be served at least ten business days prior to the date 
of the hearing. Included in the notice shall be an advisement of the licensee's right to be heard before 
the council. Any licensee requiring subpoenas to compel the attendance of city witnesses or documents 
at the hearing shall file a written request with the city clerk at least five business days prior to the 
hearing. Hearings may be continued for good cause only. 

B. Hearings shall only be as formal as necessary to preserve order and shall be compatible with the 
principles of justice. The city attorney or their designee shall present the city's case and shall bear the 
burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that due cause exists to suspend, revoke or 
probate the license. The licensee may be represented by legal counsel, may confront and cross-examine 
witnesses, and shall have the right to call witnesses and present evidence in their behalf. A hearing 
record shall be maintained by the city; however, either party may arrange for transcription by a court 
reporter at their sole expense. Hearings shall be presided over by the mayor who shall preserve order 
and rule upon all matters of evidence. Irrelevant, immaterial and unduly repetitious evidence shall be 
excluded. 

C. All final decisions to suspend, revoke, or place a licensee on probation shall be made by the mayor and 
city council, in writing, with the reasons therefore stated. Notice of a final decision shall be given the 
licensee within three business days following the date of the hearing. 

D. Appeals from an action by the mayor and city council to revoke, suspend or probate a license 
pursuant to this chapter shall be in accordance with state law to the Superior Court of DeKalb County. 

 

Section 38-106 - Short-term rental regulations. 



Ordinance 2024-05 Draft 08 13 2024 12 

A. The owner of a short-term rental shall not be entitled to place any sign on the premises. A
legible copy of the short-term rental license shall be posted within the unit and include the
following information:

1. Name, physical and mailing address, phone number and email address of the short-
term rental owner or agent;

2. Short-term rental unit license number; and

3. Maximum occupancy of the short-term rental.

B. The short-term rental owner shall notify the city manager of any change in rental agent
within ten (10) business days of such change. 

C. The Pine Lake Police Department may notify the owner and agent of a short-term rental
of all instances in which behavior of the rental guest(s) or the conduct of the short-term rental agent 
results in a citation for a code violation or other legal infraction. The Pine Lake Police Department may 
maintain a record of all violations of city code occurring at or relating to a short-term rental. When a 
short-term rental has accumulated three (3) violations for the same within a twelve-month period, the 
city may revoke any existing license and reject all applications for that particular short-term rental and 
the short-term rental owner for a period of twelve (12) consecutive months. Short-term rental owners or 
agents shall be afforded an opportunity to appeal revocation of the license to Mayor and City Council. 
Each day a short-term rental is out of compliance with this ordinance shall be deemed a separate 
violation. 

D. Except as provided herein, any person violating the provisions of the Code shall be punished
as provided by Section 1-9 of the City of Pine Lake Code of Ordinances. With respect to violations that 
are continuous with respect to time, each day the violation continues shall be deemed a separate 
offense.”  

SECTION 9. 

To the extent any portion of this ordinance is declared to be invalid, unenforceable, or non-binding, that 
shall not affect the remaining portions of this Resolution. 

SECTION 10. 

All city ordinances and rules inconsistent with this ordinance are hereby repealed. 

SECTION 11. 

This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon its adoption by the Mayor and City Council of 
the City of Pine Lake.  

SO ORDAINED this __________ day of ________, 2024. 

____________________________________ 
Brandy Hall, Mayor 



Ordinance 2024-05 Draft 08 13 2024 13 

 
 
ATTEST:       APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
____________________________________  ______________________________________ 
ChaQuias M. Thornton, City Manager and  Susan Moore, City Attorney 
Acting City Clerk 
 
 



24 LC 47 2899

Senate Bill 562

By: Senators Jackson of the 41st, Butler of the 55th, Parent of the 42nd, Davenport of the

44th, Anderson of the 43rd and others 

AS PASSED

A BILL TO BE ENTITLED

AN ACT

To amend an Act to provide a new charter for the City of Pine Lake, approved April 4, 19911

(Ga. L. 1991, p. 3935), as amended, so as to restate the city's charter; to change the corporate2

limits of such city; to transfer powers from the mayor to the city manager and vest additional3

powers in the city manager; to provide for the mayor to vote in case of a tie; to provide for4

appointment and removal of department directors; to provide for elections; to repeal5

conflicting laws; and for other purposes.6

BE IT ENACTED BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF GEORGIA:7

SECTION 1.8

An Act to provide a new charter for the City of Pine Lake, approved April 4, 1991 (Ga. L.9

1991, p. 3935) as amended, is amended by striking the charter in its entirety and inserting in10

lieu thereof the following:11

S. B. 562
- 1 -



24 LC 47 2899

"ARTICLE I. 12

INCORPORATION AND POWERS13

Section 1.10.14

Incorporation.15

The City of Pine Lake in DeKalb County is reincorporated by the enactment of this charter16

and is constituted and declared a body politic and corporate under the name of the 'City of17

Pine Lake.'  References in this charter to 'the city' or 'this city' refer to the City of Pine Lake.18

The city shall have perpetual existence.19

Section 1.11.20

Corporate boundaries.21

(a)  The boundaries of this city shall be those existing on the effective date of the adoption22

of this charter with such alterations as may be made from time to time by local law or in23

the manner provided by general state law.  The boundaries of this city at all times shall be24

shown on a map, a written description, or any combination thereof, to be retained25

permanently in the office of the city clerk of the city and to be designated, as the case may26

be: 'Official Map or Description of the Corporate Limits of the City of Pine Lake, Georgia.' 27

Photographic, typed or other copies of such map or description certified by the mayor shall28

be admitted as evidence in all courts and shall have the same force and effect as the original29

map or description.30

(b)  In addition to all other territory included within the corporate limits of said city, the31

corporate limits shall specifically include the following described property:32

(1)  All that tract or parcel of land lying and being in Land Lot 15 of the 18th District of33

DeKalb County, Georgia, known as 4599 Rockbridge Road, under the street numbering34

S. B. 562
- 2 -



24 LC 47 2899

system in effect on the effective date of this Act, and being more particularly described35

according to ALTA/ACSM Survey for Mimms Properties, United Americans Bank, N.A.36

and Chicago Title Insurance Company prepare by Integrated Science Engineering,37

dated May 22, 2001, as follows:38

Beginning at a 1 inch open topped pipe found on the southerly right of way line of39

Rockbridge Road (variable r/w), a distance of 577.6 feet westerly from the center line40

of Rowland Road (variable r/w); running thence south 01 degree 27 minutes 14 seconds41

west a distance of 299.92 feet to a 1 inch open topped pipe found; running thence42

north 88 degree 34 minutes 41 seconds west a distance of 412.57 feet to a 1/2 inch iron43

pin found; running thence north 01 degree 50 minutes 24 seconds east a distance44

of 312.99 feet to an iron pin set on the southerly right-of-way line of Rockbridge Road;45

running thence along said southerly right of way line of Rockbridge Road, and46

following the curvature thereof, an arc distance of 315.39 feet, said arc being subtended47

by a chord bearing south 81 degree 38 minutes 01 seconds east and having a chord48

distance of 312.65 feet, to an iron pin set; running thence north 01 degree 34 minutes 1249

seconds east a distance of 25.00 feet to a 1/2 inch iron pin found; funning thence south50

88 degrees 25 minutes 48 seconds east a distance of 100.03 feet to a 1 inch open top51

pipe found at the point of beginning.52

(2)  All that tract or parcel of land lying and being in Land Lot 15 of the 18th District of53

DeKalb County, Georgia, known as 4687 Rockbridge Road, under the street numbering54

system in effect on the effective date of this Act, being more particularly described as55

follows:56

To find the true point of beginning commence at the point which would be formed at57

the intersection of the southerly right of way line of Rockbridge Road (100 foot right58

of way) with the easterly right of way line of Rowland Road (70 foot right of way), if59

said right of way lines were extended to form a point; running thence in a northeasterly60

direction along the extended southerly right of way line of Rockbridge Road North 88º61

S. B. 562
- 3 -



24 LC 47 2899

54' 29" East a distance of 48.87 feet to a point marked by an iron pin located on the62

southerly right of way line of Rockbridge Road, said point hereinafter referred to as the63

TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING; running thence from the TRUE POINT OF64

BEGINNING as thus established and along the southerly right of way line of65

Rockbridge Road North 88º 54' 29" East a distance of 470.21 feet to a point marked by66

an iron pin located on the southerly right of way line of Rockbridge Road; thence67

leaving said southerly right of way line of Rockbridge Road and running South 01º 05'68

31" East a distance of 240.39 feet to a point marked by an iron pin; thence South 88º69

59' 49" West a distance of 519.46 feet to a point marked by an iron pin located on the70

easterly right of way line of Rowland Road; thence along the easterly right of way line71

of Rowland Road North 01º 00' 00" West a distance of 204.25 feet to a point marked72

by an iron pin located on the easterly right of way line of Rowland Road; thence73

northeasterly along the metered right of way line of the intersection of Rowland Road74

and Rockbridge Road North 53º 04' 19" East a distance of 60.35 feet to a point being75

the TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING, as per boundary and topographic survey for76

C.F.C.  Properties, a division of Cumberland Builders Inc., dated June 18, 1984,77

prepared by Henry E. Harper, Georgia Registered Land Surveyor No. 1321.78

Section 1.12.79

Municipal powers.80

(a)  This city shall have all powers possible for a municipality to have under the present or81

future Constitution and laws of this state as fully and completely as though they were82

specifically enumerated in this charter.  This city shall have all the powers of83

self-government not otherwise prohibited by this charter or by general law.84

(b)  The powers of this city shall be construed liberally in favor of the city.  The specific85

mention or failure to mention particular powers shall not be construed as limiting in any86

S. B. 562
- 4 -



24 LC 47 2899

way the powers of this city.  Said powers shall include, but are not limited to, the87

following:88

(1)  Air and water pollution.  To regulate the emission of smoke or other exhaust which89

pollutes the air and to prevent the pollution of natural streams which flow within the90

corporate limits of the city;91

(2)  Animal regulations.  To regulate and license or to prohibit the keeping or running at92

large of animals and fowl, and to provide for the impoundment of same if in violation of93

any ordinance or lawful order; to provide for the disposition by sale, gift or humane94

destruction of animals and fowl when not redeemed as provided by ordinance; and to95

provide punishment for violation of ordinances enacted under this paragraph;96

(3)  Appropriations and expenditures.  To make appropriations for the support of the97

government of the city; to authorize the expenditure of money for any purposes98

authorized by this charter and for any purpose for which a municipality is authorized by99

the laws of the State of Georgia; and to provide for the payment of expenses of the city;100

(4)  Building regulation.  To regulate and to license the erection and construction of101

buildings and all other structures; to adopt building, housing, plumbing, electrical, gas,102

and heating and air conditioning codes; and to regulate all housing and building trades;103

(5)  Business regulation and taxation.  To levy and to provide for the collection of license104

fees and taxes on privileges, occupations, trades and professions; to license and regulate105

the same; to provide for the manner and method of payment of such licenses and taxes;106

and to revoke such licenses after due process for failure to pay any city taxes or fees;107

(6)  Condemnation.  To condemn property, inside or outside the corporate limits of the108

city, for present or future use and for any corporate purpose deemed necessary by the109

governing authority, utilizing procedures enumerated in Title 22 of the O.C.G.A., or such110

other applicable laws as are or may hereafter be enacted;111

(7)  Contracts.  To enter into contracts and agreements with other governmental entities112

and with private persons, firms and corporations;113

S. B. 562
- 5 -



24 LC 47 2899

(8)  Emergencies.  To establish procedures for determining and proclaiming that an114

emergency situation exists, inside or outside, the city, and to make and carry out all115

reasonable provisions deemed necessary to deal with or meet such an emergency for the116

protection, safety, health or well-being of the citizens of the city;117

(9)  Fire regulations.  To fix and establish fire limits and from time to time to extend,118

enlarge or restrict the same; to prescribe fire safety regulations not inconsistent with119

general law, relating to both fire prevention and detection and to fire fighting; and to120

prescribe penalties and punishment for violations thereof;121

(10)  Garbage fees.  To levy, fix, assess and collect a garbage, refuse and trash collection122

and disposal, and other sanitary service charge, tax or fee for such services as may be123

necessary in the operation of the city from all individuals, firms and corporations residing124

in or doing business within the city benefiting from such services; to enforce the payment125

of such charges, taxes or fees; and to provide for the manner and method of collecting126

such service charges;127

(11)  General health, safety and welfare.  To define, regulate and prohibit any act,128

practice, conduct or use of property which is detrimental to health, sanitation, cleanliness,129

welfare and safety of the inhabitants of the city, and to provide for the enforcement of130

such standards;131

(12)  Gifts.  To accept or refuse gifts, donations, bequests or grants from any source for132

any purpose related to powers and duties of the city and the general welfare of its133

citizens, on such terms and conditions as the donor or grantor may impose;134

(13)  Health and sanitation.  To prescribe standards of health and sanitation within the135

city and to provide for the enforcement of such standards;136

(14)  Jail sentences.  To provide that persons given jail sentences in the municipal court137

may work out such sentences in any public works or on the streets, roads, drains and138

squares in the city; to provide for commitment of such persons to any jail;139

S. B. 562
- 6 -



24 LC 47 2899

(15)  Motor vehicles.  To regulate the operation of motor vehicles and exercise control140

over all traffic, including parking, upon or across the streets, roads, alleys and walkways141

of the city;142

(16)  Municipal agencies and delegation of power.  To create, alter or abolish143

departments, boards, offices, commissions and agencies of the city, and to confer upon144

such agencies the necessary and appropriate authority for carrying out all the powers145

conferred upon or delegated to the same;146

(17)  Municipal debts.  To appropriate and borrow money for the payment of debts of the147

city and to issue bonds for the purpose of raising revenue to carry out any project,148

program or venture authorized by this charter or the laws of the State of Georgia;149

(18)  Municipal property ownership.  To acquire, dispose of, lease, and hold in trust or150

otherwise any real, personal or mixed property, in fee simple or lesser interest, inside or151

outside the property limits of the city;152

(19)  Municipal property protection.  To provide for the preservation and protection of153

property and equipment of the city and the administration and use of same by the public;154

and to prescribe penalties and punishment for violations thereof;155

(20)  Municipal utilities.  To acquire, lease, construct, operate, maintain, sell and dispose156

of public utilities including, but not limited to, a system of waterworks, sewers and157

drains, sewage disposal, gas works, electric light plants, transportation facilities, public158

airports, and any other public utility; and to fix the taxes, charges, rates, fares, fees,159

assessments, regulations and penalties therefor; and to provide for the withdrawal of160

service for refusal or failure to pay the same; and to authorize the extension of water,161

sewerage, electrical distribution systems and all necessary appurtenances by which said162

utilities distributed, inside and outside the corporate limits of the city; and to provide163

utility services to persons, firms and corporations inside and outside the corporate limits164

of the city;165

S. B. 562
- 7 -



24 LC 47 2899

(21)  Nuisances.  To define a nuisance and provide for its abatement whether on public166

or private property and to prescribe penalties and punishments for maintaining a167

nuisance;168

(22)  Penalties.  To provide penalties for violation of any ordinances adopted pursuant to169

the authority of this charter and the laws of the State of Georgia;170

(23)  Planning and zoning.  To provide comprehensive city planning for development by171

zoning and to provide subdivision regulation and the like as the city council deems172

necessary and reasonable to ensure a safe, healthy and aesthetically pleasing community;173

(24)  Police and fire protection.  To exercise the power of arrest through duly appointed174

police officers and to establish, operate or contract for a police and a fire fighting agency;175

(25)  Public hazards; removal.  To provide for the destruction and removal of any176

building or other structure which is or may become dangerous or detrimental to the177

public;178

(26)  Public improvements.  To provide for the acquisition, construction, building,179

operation and maintenance of public ways, parks, playgrounds, recreational facilities,180

cemeteries, markets and market houses, public buildings, libraries, public housing,181

airports, hospitals, terminals, docks, parking facilities or charitable, cultural, educational,182

recreational, conservation, sport, curative, corrective, detentional, penal and medical183

institutions, agencies and facilities; to provide any other public improvements, inside or184

outside the corporate limits of the city; to regulate the use of public improvements; and,185

for such purposes, property may be acquired by condemnation under Title 22 of the186

O.C.G.A., or such other applicable laws as are or may hereafter be enacted;187

(27)  Public peace.  To provide for the prevention and punishment of drunkenness, riots188

and public disturbances;189

(28)  Public transportation.  To organize and operate such public transportation systems190

as are deemed beneficial;191

S. B. 562
- 8 -



24 LC 47 2899

(29)  Public utilities and services.  To grant franchises or make contracts for public192

utilities and public services; and to prescribe the rates, fares, regulations and the standards193

and conditions of service applicable to the service to be provided by the franchise grantee194

or contractor, insofar as they are not in conflict with valid regulations of the public195

service commission;196

(30)  Regulation of roadside areas.  To prohibit or regulate and control the erection,197

removal and maintenance of signs, billboards, trees, shrubs, fences, buildings and any and198

all other structures or obstructions upon or adjacent to the rights of way of streets and199

roads or within view thereof, inside or abutting the corporate limits of the city and to200

prescribe penalties and punishment for violation of such ordinances;201

(31)  Retirement.  To provide and maintain a retirement plan for officers and employees202

of the city;203

(32)  Roadways.  To lay out, open, extend, widen, narrow, establish or change the grade204

of, abandon or close, construct, pave, curb, gutter, adorn with shade trees, or otherwise205

improve, maintain, repair, clean, prevent erosion of, and light the roads, alleys, and206

walkways within the corporate limits of the city; to negotiate and execute leases over,207

through, under, or across any city property or the right of way of any streets, roads, alleys208

and walkways or portion thereof within the corporate limits of the city for bridges,209

passageways or any other purpose or use between buildings on opposite sides of the210

streets and for other bridges, overpasses and underpasses for private use at such location,211

and to charge a rental therefor in such manner as may be provided by ordinance; to212

authorize and control the construction of bridges, overpasses and underpasses within the213

corporate limits of the city; to grant franchises and rights of way throughout the streets214

and roads, and over the bridges and viaducts for the use of public utilities and for private215

use; and to require real estate owners to repair and maintain in a safe condition the216

sidewalks adjoining their lots or lands and to impose penalties for failure to do so;217

S. B. 562
- 9 -



24 LC 47 2899

(33)  Sewer fees.  To levy a fee, charge or sewer tax as necessary to assure ensure the218

acquiring, constructing, equipping, operating, maintaining and extending of a sewage219

disposal plant and sewerage system; to levy on those to whom sewers and sewerage220

systems are made available a sewer service fee, charge or tax for the availability or use221

of the sewers; to provide for the manner and method of collecting such service charges222

and for enforcing payment of the same; and to impose and collect a sewer connection fee223

or fees to those connected with the system;224

(34)  Solid waste disposal.  To provide for the collection and disposal of garbage, rubbish225

and refuse and to regulate the collection and disposal of garbage, rubbish and refuse by226

others; and to provide for the separate collection of glass, tin, aluminum, cardboard, paper227

and other recyclable materials and to provide for the sale of such items;228

(35)  Special areas of public regulation.  To regulate or prohibit junk dealers, pawn shops;229

the manufacture, sale or transportation of intoxicating liquors; to regulate the use and sale230

of firearms; to regulate the transportation, storage and use of combustible, explosive and231

inflammable materials, the use of lighting and heating equipment, and any other business232

or situation which may be dangerous to persons or property; to regulate and control the233

conduct of peddlers and itinerant traders, theatrical performances, exhibitions and shows234

of any kind, by taxation or otherwise; and to license, tax, regulate or prohibit professional235

fortunetelling, palmistry, adult bookstores, and massage parlors;236

(36)  Special assessments.  To levy and provide for the collection of special assessments237

to cover the costs for any public improvement;238

(37)  Taxes: ad valorem.  To levy and provide for the assessment, valuation, revaluation239

and collection of taxes on all property subject to taxation;240

(38)  Taxes: other.  To levy and collect such other taxes as may be allowed now or in the241

future by law;242

(39)  Taxicabs.  To regulate and license vehicles operated for hire in the city; to limit the243

number of such vehicles; to require the operators thereof to be licensed; to require public244

S. B. 562
- 10 -



24 LC 47 2899

liability insurance on such vehicles in the amounts to be prescribed by ordinance; and to245

regulate the parking of such vehicles;246

(40)  Cultural programs.  The power to establish arts and cultural programs for the247

citizens of Pine Lake and to provide for the funding thereof;248

(41)  Urban redevelopment.  To organize and operate an urban redevelopment program;249

and250

(42)  Other powers.  To exercise and enjoy all other powers, functions, rights, privileges251

and immunities necessary or desirable to promote or protect the safety, health, peace,252

security, good order, comfort, convenience or general welfare of the city and its253

inhabitants; to exercise all implied powers necessary to carry into execution all powers254

granted in this charter as fully and completely as if such powers were fully stated herein;255

and to exercise all powers now or in the future authorized to be exercised by other256

municipal governments under other laws of the State of Georgia; and no listing of257

particular powers in this charter shall be held to be exclusive of others, nor restrictive of258

general words and phrases granting powers, but shall be held to be in addition to such259

powers unless expressly prohibited by municipalities under the Constitution or applicable260

laws of the State of Georgia.261

Section 1.13. 262

Exercise of powers.263

All powers, functions, rights, privileges, and immunities of the city, its officers, agencies, or264

employees shall be carried into execution as provided by this charter.  If this charter makes265

no provision, such shall be carried into execution as provided by ordinance or as provided266

by pertinent laws of the State of Georgia.267

S. B. 562
- 11 -



24 LC 47 2899

ARTICLE II. 268

GOVERNMENT STRUCTURE269

Section 2.10. 270

City council creation; composition; number; election.271

The legislative authority of the government of this city, except as otherwise specifically272

provided in this charter, shall be vested in a city council to be composed of a mayor and five273

councilmembers.  The mayor and councilmembers shall be elected in the manner provided274

by this charter and general state law.  The city council established shall in all respects be a275

successor to and continuation of the governing authority under prior law.276

Section 2.11. 277

City council terms and qualifications for office.278

The mayor and city councilmembers shall serve for terms of four years and until their279

respective successors are elected and qualified.  No person shall be eligible to serve as mayor280

or councilmember unless he or she shall have been a resident of this city for the period of 12281

continuous months immediately prior to the date of the election in which he or she seeks to282

qualify; each such person shall continue to reside within the city during said period of service283

and shall be registered and qualified to vote in municipal elections in this city.284

S. B. 562
- 12 -



24 LC 47 2899

Section 2.12. 285

Vacancy; filling of vacancies; suspensions.286

(a)  The office of mayor or councilmember shall become vacant upon the incumbent's287

death, resignation, forfeiture of office or removal from office in any manner authorized by288

this charter or the Constitution or general laws of the State of Georgia.289

(b)  A vacancy in the office of mayor or councilmember shall be filled for the remainder290

of the unexpired term, if any, by appointment of a majority of the remaining members of291

the city council if less than 12 months remain in the unexpired term, otherwise, by an292

election as provided for in Section 5 of this charter and Chapter 2 of Title 21 of the293

O.C.G.A., the 'Georgia Election Code,' or such other laws as are or may hereafter be294

enacted.295

(c)  Upon the suspension from office of mayor or councilmember in any manner authorized296

by the general laws of the State of Georgia, the city council or those remaining shall297

appoint a successor for the duration of the suspension.  If the suspension becomes298

permanent, then the office shall become vacant and shall be filled for the remainder of the299

unexpired term, if any, as provided for in this charter.300

Section 2.13. 301

Compensation and expenses.302

The mayor and councilmembers shall receive compensation and expenses for their services303

as provided by ordinance.304

S. B. 562
- 13 -



24 LC 47 2899

Section 2.14. 305

Conflicts of interest; holding other offices.306

(a)  No elected official, appointed officer, or employee of the city or any agency or political307

entity to which this charter applies shall knowingly:308

(1)  Engage in any business or transaction, or have a financial or other personal interest,309

direct or indirect, which is incompatible with the proper discharge of his or her official310

duties or which would tend to impair the independence of his or her judgment or action311

in the performance of his or her official duties;312

(2)  Engage in or accept private employment, or render services for private interests when313

such employment or service is incompatible with the proper discharge of his or her314

official duties or would tend to impair the independence of his or her judgment or action315

in the performance of his or her official duties;316

(3)  Disclose confidential information concerning the property, government or affairs of317

the governmental body by which he or she is engaged without proper legal authorization318

or use such information to advance the financial or other private interest of himself or319

herself or others;320

(4)  Accept any valuable gift, whether in the form of service, loan, thing or promise, from321

any person, firm or corporation to which his or her knowledge is interested, directly or322

indirectly, in any manner whatsoever, in business dealings with the governmental body323

by which he or she is engaged; provided, however, that an elected official who is a324

candidate for public office may accept campaign contributions and services in connection325

with any such campaign;326

(5)  Represent other private interests in any action or proceeding against this city or any327

portion of its government; and328

(6)  Vote or otherwise participate in the negotiation or in the making of any contract with329

any business or entity in which he or she has financial interest.330

S. B. 562
- 14 -



24 LC 47 2899

(b)  Any elected official, appointed officer or employee who has any private financial331

interest, directly or indirectly, in any contract or matter pending before or within any332

department of the city shall disclose such private interest to the city council.  The mayor333

or any councilmember who has a private interest in any matter pending before the city334

council shall disclose such private interest and such disclosure shall be entered on the335

records of the city council, and the mayor or such councilmember shall disqualify himself336

or herself from participating in any decision or vote relating thereto.  Any elected official,337

appointed officer, or employee of any agency or political entity to which this charter338

applies who shall have any private financial interest, directly or indirectly, in any contract339

or matter pending before or within such entity shall disclose such private interest to the340

governing body of such agency or entity.341

(c)  No elected official, appointed officer, or employee of the city or any agency or entity342

to which this charter applies shall use property owned by such governmental entity for343

personal benefit, convenience or profit except in accordance with policies promulgated by344

the city council or the governing body of such agency or entity.345

(d)  Any violation of this section which occurs with the knowledge, express or implied, of346

a party to a contract or sale shall render said contract or sale voidable at the option of the347

city council.348

(e)  Except where authorized by law, neither the mayor nor any councilmember shall hold349

any other elective or compensated appointive office in the city or otherwise be employed350

by said government or any agency thereof during the term for which he or she was elected.351

No former mayor and no former councilmember shall hold any compensated appointive352

office in the city until one year after the expiration of the term for which he or she was353

elected.354

(f)  No appointed officer and no employee of the city shall continue in such employment355

upon qualifying as a candidate for nomination or election to any public office if such356

continued employment is incompatible with running for such public office.357

S. B. 562
- 15 -



24 LC 47 2899

(g)(1)  Any city officer or employee who knowingly conceals such financial interest or358

knowingly violates any of the requirements of this section shall be guilty of malfeasance359

in office or position and shall be deemed to have forfeited his or her office or position.360

(2)  Any officer or employee of the city who shall forfeit his or her office or position as361

described in paragraph (1) of this subsection, shall be ineligible for appointment or362

election to or employment in a position in the city government for a period of three years363

thereafter.364

 365

Section 2.15.366

Inquiries and investigations.367

The city council may make inquiries and investigations into the affairs of the city and the368

conduct of any department, office or agency thereof, and for this purpose may subpoena369

witnesses, administer oaths, take testimony and require the production of evidence.  Any370

person who fails or refuses to obey a lawful order issued in the exercise of these powers by371

the city council shall be punished as provided by ordinance.372

Section 2.16. 373

General power and authority.374

Except as otherwise provided by the charter, the city council shall be vested with all the375

powers of government of this city as provided by Article I of this charter.376

S. B. 562
- 16 -



24 LC 47 2899

Section 2.17.377

Eminent domain.378

The city council is empowered to acquire, construct, operate and maintain public ways,379

parks, public grounds, cemeteries, markets, market houses, public buildings, libraries,380

sewers, drains, sewage treatment, water works, electrical systems, gas systems, airports,381

hospitals and charitable, educational, recreational, sport, curative, corrective, detention, penal382

and medical institutions, agencies and facilities, and any other public improvements inside383

or outside the city, and to regulate the use thereof, and for such purposes, property may be384

condemned under procedures established under general law applicable now or as provided385

in the future.386

Section 2.18.387

Organizational meeting.388

The city council shall hold an organizational meeting on the first Tuesday at the first regular389

meeting after January 1 following a regular election each year.  The meeting shall be called390

to order by the city clerk and the oath of office shall be administered to the newly elected391

members as follows: 392

'I do swear or affirm that I will faithfully perform the duties of (council member)(mayor)393

for the City of Pine Lake during my term of office; that I am not the holder of any394

unaccounted for public money due the State of Georgia or any political subdivision or395

authority thereof; that I am not the holder of any office of trust under the government of396

the United States or any other state or any foreign state which I may, by the laws of the397

State of Georgia, be prohibited from holding; that I am otherwise qualified to hold the398

office to which I have been elected according to the constitution and laws of Georgia; that399

I will support the Constitution of the United States and of the State of Georgia; that I am400

S. B. 562
- 17 -



24 LC 47 2899

a resident of the City of Pine Lake; and I will enforce the charter and ordinances of the City401

of Pine Lake to the best of my skill and ability.'402

Section 2.19. 403

Regular and special meetings.404

(a)  The city council shall hold regular meetings at such times and places as prescribed by405

ordinance.406

(b)  Special meetings of the city council may be held on call of the mayor or three members407

of the city council not including the mayor.  Notice of such special meetings shall be served408

on all other members personally, or by telephone personally, at least 48 hours in advance409

of the meeting.  Such notice to councilmembers shall not be required if the mayor and all410

councilmembers are present when the special meeting is called.  Such notice of any special411

meeting may be waived by a councilmember in writing before or after such a meeting and412

attendance at the meeting shall also constitute a waiver of notice on any business transacted413

in such councilmember's presence.  Only the business stated in the call may be transacted414

at the special meeting.415

(c)  All meetings of the city council shall be public to the extent required by law and notice416

to the public of special meetings shall be made fully as is reasonably possible two days417

prior to such meetings.418

Section 2.20.419

Procedures.420

(a)  The city council shall adopt its rules of procedure and order of business consistent with421

the provisions of this charter and shall provide for keeping a journal of its proceedings,422

which shall be a public record.423

S. B. 562
- 18 -



24 LC 47 2899

(b)  All committees and committee chairpersons and officers of the city council shall be424

appointed by the mayor and shall serve at the pleasure of the mayor.  The mayor shall have425

the power to appoint new members to any committee at any time.426

Section 2.21. 427

Quorum; voting.428

(a)  Except as otherwise provided in subsection (b) of this section, three councilmembers,429

not including the mayor, shall constitute a quorum and shall be authorized to transact the430

business of the city council.  Voting on the adoption of ordinances shall be by voice vote431

and the vote shall be recorded in the journal, but the mayor or any member of the city432

council shall have the right to request a roll call vote and such vote shall be recorded in the433

journal.  Except as otherwise provided in this charter, the affirmative vote of three434

councilmembers shall be required for the adoption of any ordinance, resolution or motion.435

(b)  In the event vacancies in office result in less than a quorum of councilmembers holding436

office, then the remaining councilmembers in office shall constitute a quorum and shall be437

authorized to transact business of the city council.  A vote of a majority of the remaining438

councilmembers shall be required for the adoption of any ordinance, resolution or motion.439

Section 2.22.440

Ordinance form; procedures.441

(a)  Every proposed ordinance should be introduced in writing and in the form required for442

final adoption.  No ordinance shall contain a subject which is not expressed in its title.  The443

enacting clause shall be 'The Council of the City of Pine Lake hereby ordains... ' and every444

ordinance shall so begin.445

S. B. 562
- 19 -



24 LC 47 2899

(b)  An ordinance may be introduced by any councilmember and be read at a regular or446

special meeting of the city council.  Ordinances shall be considered and adopted or rejected447

by the city council in accordance with the rules which it shall establish; provided, however,448

that an ordinance shall not be adopted the same day it is introduced, except for emergency449

ordinances provided in Section 2.24 of this charter.  Upon introduction of any ordinance,450

the clerk shall as soon as possible distribute a copy to the mayor and to each451

councilmember and shall file a reasonable number of copies in the office of the clerk and452

at such other public places as the city council may designate.453

(c)  The reading of the preamble to an ordinance shall be sufficient to meet the454

requirements of a 'read' or 'reading.'  By affirmative vote of a majority of the city council,455

a reading of the ordinance in its entirety shall be required.456

Section 2.23.457

Action requiring an ordinance or resolution.458

Permanent acts of the city council which have the force and effect of law shall be enacted by459

ordinance.  Acts of a temporary nature may be enacted by resolution.460

Section 2.24.461

Emergencies.462

To meet a public emergency affecting life, health, property or public peace, the city council463

may convene on call of the mayor or three councilmembers and promptly adopt an464

emergency ordinance, but such ordinance may not levy taxes; grant, renew or extend a465

franchise; regulate the rate charged by any public utility for its services; or authorize the466

borrowing of money except for loans to be repaid within 30 days.  An emergency ordinance467

shall be introduced in the form prescribed for ordinances generally, except that it shall be468

S. B. 562
- 20 -



24 LC 47 2899

plainly designated as an emergency ordinance and shall contain, after the enacting clause,469

a declaration stating that an emergency exists, and describing the emergency in clear and470

specific terms.  An emergency ordinance may be adopted, with or without amendment, or471

rejected at the meeting at which it is introduced, but the affirmative vote of at least three472

councilmembers shall be required for adoption.  It shall become effective upon adoption or473

at such later time as it may specify.  Every emergency ordinance shall automatically stand474

repealed 30 days following the date upon which it was adopted, but this shall not prevent475

reenactment of the ordinance in the manner specified in this section if the emergency476

continues to exist.  An emergency ordinance shall also be repealed by adoption of a repealing477

ordinance in the same manner specified in this section for adoption of emergency ordinances.478

Section 2.25.479

Codes of technical regulations.480

(a)  The city council may adopt any standard code of technical regulations by reference481

thereto in an adopting ordinance.  The procedure and requirements governing such482

adopting ordinance shall be as prescribed for ordinances generally except that:483

(1)  The requirements of subsection (b) of Section 2.22 of this charter for distribution and484

filing of copies of the ordinance shall be construed to include copies of any code of485

technical regulations, as well as the adopting ordinance; and486

(2)  A copy of each adopted code of technical regulations, as well as the adopting487

ordinance, shall be authenticated and recorded by the clerk pursuant to Section 2.26 of488

this charter.489

(b)  Copies of any adopted code of technical regulations shall be made available by the city490

clerk for review, for distribution or for purchase at a reasonable price.491

S. B. 562
- 21 -



24 LC 47 2899

Section 2.26.492

Signing; authenticating; recording; codification; printing.493

(a)  The city clerk shall authenticate by his or her signature and record in full in a properly494

indexed book kept for that purpose, all ordinances adopted by the council.495

(b)  The city council shall provide for the preparation of a general codification of all the496

ordinances of the city having the force and effect of law.  The general codification shall be497

adopted by the city council by ordinance and shall be published promptly, together with498

all amendments thereto and such codes of technical regulations and other rules and499

regulations as the city council may specify.  This compilation shall be known and cited500

officially as 'The Code of the City of Pine Lake, Georgia.'  Copies of the code shall be501

furnished to all officers, departments and agencies of the city, and made available for502

purchase by the public at a reasonable price as fixed by the city council.503

(c)  The city council shall cause each ordinance and each amendment to this charter to be504

printed promptly following its adoption, and the printed ordinances and charter505

amendments shall be made available for review by the public without cost and for purchase506

by the public at reasonable prices to be fixed by the city council.  Following publication507

of the first code under this charter and at all times thereafter, the ordinances and charter508

amendments shall be printed in substantially the same style as the code then in effect and509

shall be suitable in form for incorporation within the code.  The city council shall make510

such further arrangements as deemed desirable with reproduction and distribution of any511

changes in or additions to codes of technical regulations and other rules and regulations512

included in the code.513

S. B. 562
- 22 -



24 LC 47 2899

Section 2.27.514

City manager; appointment; qualifications; compensation; removal.515

The mayor shall appoint a city manager, subject to confirmation by the city council.  The516

mayor and city council shall fix the city manager's compensation.  The city manager shall517

be appointed solely on the basis of that person's administrative, executive, and professional518

qualifications.  Except as otherwise provided by this charter or by law, the city manager shall519

not be subject to termination or removal by the mayor or the city council acting alone, but520

only upon a majority vote of the mayor and city council at a regularly scheduled meeting.521

Section 2.28.522

Powers and duties of the city manager.523

The city manager shall be the chief administrative and executive officer of the city.  The city524

manager shall report to the mayor and be responsible to the city council for the525

administration of all city affairs placed in the city manager's charge by or under this charter.526

As the chief executive and administrative officer, the city manager shall:527

(1)  Appoint and, when the city manager deems it necessary for the good of the city,528

suspend or remove any city employee and administrative officers the city manager529

appoints, except as otherwise provided by law or personnel ordinances adopted pursuant530

to this charter.  The city manager shall authorize any administrative officer who is subject531

to the city manager's direction and supervision to exercise these powers with respect to532

subordinates in that officer's department, office, or agency;533

(2)  Direct and supervise the administration and operation of all departments, offices, and534

agencies of the city, except as otherwise provided by this charter or by law;535

(3)  Shall serve as the director of administration; or delegate such responsibility to any536

administrative officer under the city manager's supervision;537

S. B. 562
- 23 -



24 LC 47 2899

(4)  Attend all city council meetings, except for closed meetings held for the purposes of538

deliberating on the appointment, discipline, or removal of the city manager or held for the539

purpose of receiving legal advice regarding the city manager, and have the right to take540

part in discussion, but the city manager may not vote;541

(5)  Perform the general duties of treasurer, accountant, and fiscal officer;542

(6)  See that all laws, provisions of this charter, and acts of the city council, subject to543

enforcement by the city manager or by officers subject to the city manager's direction and544

supervision, are faithfully executed;545

(7)  Prepare and submit to the city council a recommended operating budget and546

recommended capital budget;547

(8)  Submit to the city council and make available to the public, at least annually, a548

statement covering the financial condition of the city and a report on the administrative549

activities of the city as of the end of each fiscal year;550

(9)  Make such other reports as the city council may require concerning the operations551

of the city departments, offices, and agencies subject to the city manager's direction and552

supervision;553

(10)  Keep the city council advised as to the financial condition and future needs of the554

city, and make such recommendations to the city council concerning the affairs of the city555

as the city manager deems desirable;556

(11)  Provide council with an organizational chart that identifies all directors and the557

departments of city government that have been legally activated;558

(12)  Be responsible for the administration of court service operations, maintenance of559

municipal court records and collection of fines as established by ordinance and state law;560

and561

(13)  Perform other such duties as are specified in this charter or as may be required by562

the city council.563

S. B. 562
- 24 -



24 LC 47 2899

Section 2.29.564

Acting city manager.565

By letter filed with the city clerk, the city manager shall designate, subject to the approval566

of council, a qualified city administrative officer to exercise the powers and perform the567

duties of city manager during the city manager's temporary absence of 30 days or less.568

During such absence, the city council may revoke such designation at any time and appoint569

another officer of the city to serve until the city manager shall return.  In the case of570

permanent absence or removal of the city manager, the city council shall have the authority571

to appoint or to designate an acting city manager and to affix the acting city manager's572

compensation.  The acting city manager shall be appointed or designated solely on the basis573

of that person's administrative, executive, and professional qualifications.574

Section 2.30.575

Council's interference with administration.576

Except for the purpose of inquiries and investigations under Section 2.15 of this charter, the577

city council or its members shall deal with city officers and employees who are subject to the578

direction and supervision of the city manager solely through the city manager, and neither579

the city council nor its members shall give orders to any such officer or employee, either580

publicly or privately.581

S. B. 562
- 25 -



24 LC 47 2899

Section 2.31.582

Powers and duties of mayor.583

The mayor shall:584

(1)  Preside at meetings of mayor and council and have the right to take part in the585

deliberations of the city council, but shall not vote on any question except in the case of586

a tie;587

(2)  Serve as head of the city for the purpose of service of process and for ceremonial588

purposes and be the official spokesperson for the city and the chief advocate of policy.589

(3)  Have power to administer oaths and to take affidavits;590

(4)  Sign as a matter of course on behalf of the city all written and approved contracts,591

ordinances, and other instruments executed by the city which by law are required to be592

in writing;593

(5)  Have veto power pursuant to Section 2.33 of this charter;594

(6)  Call special meetings of the city council as provided for in subsection (b) of595

Section 2.19 of this charter;596

(7)  Sign all checks for the payment of approved money owed by the city;597

(8)  Approve or disapprove ordinances as provided in Section 2.33 of this charter;598

(9)  Perform such other duties as may be required by law, this charter, or ordinance.599

Section 2.32.600

Limitation on terms of service.601

No mayor elected and qualified for two terms shall be eligible to serve as mayor for the602

succeeding term.603

S. B. 562
- 26 -



24 LC 47 2899

Section 2.33.604

Submission of ordinances to the mayor; veto power.605

(a)  Every ordinance adopted by the city council shall be presented by the city clerk to the606

mayor.607

(b)  The mayor shall within ten days of receipt of an ordinance return it to the city clerk608

with or without his or her approval, or with his or her disapproval.  If the ordinance is609

neither approved nor disapproved, it shall become law at 12:00 Noon on the tenth calendar610

day after its adoption; if the ordinance is disapproved, the mayor shall submit to the city611

council through the city clerk a written statement of his or her reasons for the veto.  The612

city clerk shall record upon the ordinance the date of its delivery to and receipt from the613

mayor.614

(c)  Ordinances vetoed by the mayor shall be presented by the city clerk to the city council615

at its next regular meeting and shall become law if the city council then or at its next616

regular meeting adopts the ordinance by an affirmative vote of a supermajority of those617

present and voting.  For purposes of overriding a veto by the mayor, the mayor shall not618

vote in the case of a tie.619

(d)  The mayor may disapprove or reduce any item or items of appropriation in any620

ordinance.  The approved part or parts of ordinance making appropriations shall become621

law, and the part or parts disapproved shall not become law unless subsequently passed by622

the city council over the mayor's veto as provided herein.  The reduced part or parts shall623

be presented to city council as though disapproved and shall become law unless overridden624

by the council as provided in subsection (c) of this section.625

S. B. 562
- 27 -



24 LC 47 2899

Section 2.34.626

Mayor pro tempore; selection; duties.627

By a majority vote of all its member, the city council shall elect a councilmember to serve628

as mayor pro tempore who shall serve at the pleasure of the council.  Such election shall629

occur at the first organizational meeting after each regular election.  When the mayor pro630

tempore is temporarily serving as mayor and is presiding at meetings of the city council, the631

mayor pro tempore shall retain the right to vote as a member of the city council.  During the632

absence of the mayor for any cause, the mayor pro tempore of the city council shall be633

clothed with all the rights and privileges of the mayor so long as such absence shall continue.634

The mayor pro tempore shall sign all contracts and ordinances for which the mayor has a635

disqualifying financial interest as provided in Section 2.14 of this charter.636

ARTICLE III.637

ADMINISTRATIVE AFFAIRS638

Section 3.10.639

Administrative and service departments.640

(a)  Except as otherwise provided in this charter, the city council by ordinance shall641

prescribe the functions or duties and establish, abolish, or alter all nonelective offices as642

necessary for proper administration of the affairs and government of the city.643

(b)  Except as otherwise provided by this charter or by law, the directors of departments644

and other appointed officers of the city shall be appointed solely on the basis of their645

respective administrative and professional qualifications.646

(c)  All appointed officers and directors of departments shall receive such compensation647

as prescribed by the budget adopted by the city council.648

S. B. 562
- 28 -



24 LC 47 2899

(d)  There shall be a director of each department.  Each director shall be subject to the649

direction and supervision of the city manager and shall be responsible for the650

administration, the affairs, and the operation of the director's department.  The city manager651

may serve as director of a department.  An individual may serve as director of more than652

one department.653

(e)  All directors under the supervision of the city manager shall be recommended by the654

city manager for appointment by the city council and may be suspended or terminated by655

the city manager.  The director involved may appeal to the city council within five calendar656

days of the suspension or termination.  After a hearing, the council may override the city657

manager's action by the affirmative vote of a majority of councilmembers present and658

voting.  In the event of a tie, the mayor may vote to break the tie.  The following659

administrative officers shall not be considered 'directors' whom the city manager may660

suspend or remove under this section: city attorney, city manager and city clerk; the661

foregoing administrative officers shall only be subject to removal as otherwise allowed662

under this charter or by law.  Acting directors may serve until a quorum of the city council663

affirmatively requests a permanent director to be appointed, subject to regular city council664

approval.  All other appointed directors shall be employees at will unless otherwise provide665

by law or ordinance.666

Section 3.11.667

Boards, commissions and authorities.668

(a)  The city council shall create by ordinance or resolution such boards, commissions and669

authorities to fulfill any investigative, quasi-judicial or quasi-legislative function the city670

council deems necessary, and shall by ordinance or resolution establish the composition,671

period of existence duties and powers thereof.672

S. B. 562
- 29 -



24 LC 47 2899

(b)  All members of boards, commissions and authorities of the city shall be appointed by673

the city council for such terms of office and in such manner as shall be provided by674

ordinance or resolution, except where other appointing authority, terms of office or manner675

of appointment is prescribed by this charter or by law.676

(c)  The city council, by ordinance or resolution, may provide for the compensation and677

reimbursement for actual and necessary expenses of the members of any board,678

commission or authority.679

(d)  Except as otherwise provided by charter, by ordinance or by other law, no member of680

any board, commission or authority shall hold any elective office in the city.681

(e)  Any vacancy on a board, commission, or authority of the city shall be filled for the682

unexpired term in the manner prescribed for the original appointment, except as otherwise683

provided by this charter, by ordinance or by other law.684

(f)  No member of a board, commission or authority shall assume office until such member685

has executed and filed with the clerk of the city an oath obligating to perform faithfully and686

impartially the duties of his or her office, such oath to be prescribed by ordinance and687

administered by the mayor.688

(g)  Any member of a board, commission or authority may be removed from office for689

cause by an affirmative vote of three members of the city council.690

(h)  Except as otherwise provided by this charter or by law, each board, commission or691

authority of the city shall elect one of its members as chairperson and one member as692

vice-chairperson, and may elect as its secretary one of its members or may appoint as693

secretary an employee of the city.  Each board, commission or authority of the city694

government may establish such bylaws, rules and regulations, not inconsistent with this695

charter, an ordinance of the city, or law, as it deems appropriate and necessary for the696

fulfillment of its duties or the conduct of its affairs.  Copies of such bylaws, rules and697

regulations shall be filed with the clerk of the city.698

S. B. 562
- 30 -



24 LC 47 2899

Section 3.12.699

City attorney.700

The city council shall appoint a city attorney, subject to confirmation by city council,701

together with such assistant city attorneys as may be authorized, and shall provide for the702

payment of such attorney or attorneys for services rendered to the city.  The city attorney703

shall be responsible for representing and defending the city in all litigation in which the city704

is a party; may be the prosecuting officer in the municipal court; shall attend the meetings705

of the council as directed; shall advise the city council, mayor, city manager and other706

officers and employees of the city concerning legal aspects of the city's affairs; and shall707

perform such other duties as may be required of him or her by virtue of such person position708

as city attorney.  Except as otherwise provided by this charter or by law, the city attorney709

shall be subject to termination or removal by a majority vote of the city council at a regularly710

scheduled meeting.  The city manager, as chief executive officer of the city, shall use the711

city's administrative resources to identify candidates and to present recommendations to the712

city council as to appointment of a city attorney.  The recommendation of the manager is713

subject to confirmation by the city council.  The city attorney shall be responsible for714

reviewing and approving all contracts, pursuant to related ordinances.  The city attorney shall715

provide legal advice to the mayor, city council, city manager, chief of police and the city716

clerk upon request of the mayor or city manager except on issues germane to investigations717

of the mayor, whereby authority is given to the mayor pro tempore.718

Section 3.13.719

City clerk.720

The city council shall appoint a city clerk who shall not be a member of the city council.  The721

city clerk shall be the custodian of the official city seal; maintain city council records722

S. B. 562
- 31 -



24 LC 47 2899

required by this charter; and perform such other duties as may be required by the city council723

and as are imposed upon that officer by state law.  Except as otherwise provided in this724

charter or by law, the city clerk shall not be subject to termination or removal by the mayor725

or the city council acting alone, but only upon the majority vote of the mayor and a726

concurring majority of the city council sitting at a regularly scheduled meeting of the city727

council.  In the event that an appointment is not made to the city clerk position, the city728

manager shall serve as city clerk.729

Section 3.14.730

Administrative affairs.731

(a)  The mayor shall acknowledge the city manager's recommendation of an auditor and732

such recommendation shall be subject to confirmation by the city council.  The auditor733

shall be responsible for auditing and annual revenues and expenditures pursuant to state734

and federal law such recommendation shall be subject to confirmation by the city council.735

The auditor shall be responsible for auditing and annual revenues and expenditures736

pursuant to state and federal law.737

(b)  The city manager shall solicit bids and proposals for city auditing service once every738

three years and shall review those bids and make a recommendation to the mayor and739

council for the purposes of the appointment of the city auditor.740

(c)  The city manager shall solicit bids and proposals for legal services by a qualified741

municipal attorney at least once every five years and shall review those bids and make a742

recommendation to the mayor and council for the purpose of the appointment of the city743

attorney.744

S. B. 562
- 32 -



24 LC 47 2899

Section 3.15.745

Chief of police.746

The city council shall appoint a chief of police by majority vote of the council.  The chief of747

police and officers under his or her command shall be responsible for the direct enforcement748

of all city ordinances and laws as defined by the city charter and the State of Georgia.  The749

chief of police shall also perform the duties of city marshal to levy all executions in favor of750

the city for taxes, fines, assessments or other pecuniary demands and to advertise and sell751

property levied on, real or personal, for the satisfaction of taxes, assessments or fines in752

accordance with the laws of the State of Georgia governing sheriff's sales.  The chief of753

police shall have the authority which now vests in the sheriffs of this state to place purchasers754

of said property in possession.755

Section 3.16.756

Position classification and pay plans.757

The city manager shall be responsible for the preparation of a position classification and pay758

plan which shall be submitted to the city council for approval.  Such plan may apply to all759

employees of the city and any of its agencies, departments, boards, commissions or760

authorities.  When a pay plan has been adopted, the city council shall not increase or decrease761

the salary range applicable to any position except by amendment of such pay plan.  For762

purposes of this section, all elected and appointed city officials are not city employees.763

Section 3.18.764

Personnel policies.765

The city council shall adopt rules and regulations consistent with this charter concerning:766

S. B. 562
- 33 -



24 LC 47 2899

(1)  Hours of work, vacation, sick leave and other leaves of absence, overtime pay and767

the order and manner in which layoffs shall be effected;768

(2)  Such dismissal hearings as due process may require; and769

(3)  Such other personnel policies and notices as may be necessary to provide for the770

adequate and systematic handling of personnel affairs.771

ARTICLE IV.772

JUDICIAL BRANCH773

Section 4.10.774

Creation; name.775

There shall be a court to be known as the Municipal Court of the City of Pine Lake, Georgia.776

Section 4.11.777

Judges.778

(a)  The municipal court shall be presided over by a chief judge and such part-time,779

full-time or stand-by judges as shall be provided by ordinance.  The method of selection780

and terms of such judges shall be provided for by ordinance.781

(b)  No person shall be qualified or eligible to serve as a judge on the municipal court782

unless he or she shall have attained the age of 21 years and shall be a member of the State783

Bar of Georgia.  All judges shall be appointed by the city council.784

(c)  Compensation of the judges shall be fixed by ordinance.785

(d)  Judges may be removed for cause by a vote of three members of the city council.786

(e)  Before assuming office, each judge shall take an oath, given by the mayor, that he or787

he will honestly and faithfully discharge the duties of his or her office to the best of his or788

S. B. 562
- 34 -



24 LC 47 2899

her ability and without fear, favor or partiality.  The oath shall be entered upon the minutes789

of the city council journal required by Section 2.20 of this charter.790

Section 4.12.791

Convening of court.792

The municipal court shall be convened at regular intervals as provided by ordinance.793

Section 4.13.794

Jurisdiction; powers.795

(a)  The municipal court shall try and punish violations of this charter, all city ordinances796

and such other violations as provided by law.797

(b)  The municipal court shall have authority to punish those in its presence for contempt,798

provided that such punishment shall not exceed a fine of $200.00 or ten days in jail.799

(c)  The municipal court may fix punishment for offenses within its sole jurisdiction not800

exceeding a fine of $1,000.00 or imprisonment for six months or both such fine and801

imprisonment or may fix punishment by fine, imprisonment or alternative sentencing as802

now or hereafter provided by law and may impose any punishment up to the maximums803

specified by general law for offenses with its concurrent jurisdiction.  The jailer of DeKalb804

County is required to receive all such prisoners delivered to him or her by the municipal805

court.806

(d)  The municipal court shall have authority to establish a schedule of fees to defray the807

cost of operation and shall be entitled to reimbursement of the actual cost of meals,808

transportation and caretaking of prisoners bound over to superior courts for violations of809

state law.810

S. B. 562
- 35 -



24 LC 47 2899

(e)  The municipal court shall have authority to establish bail and recognizances to ensure811

the presence of those charged with violations before said court and shall have discretionary812

authority to accept cash or personal or real property as surety for the appearance of persons813

charged with violations.  When any person shall give bail for appearance and shall fail to814

appear at the time fixed for trial, such person's bond shall be forfeited by the judge815

presiding at such time, and an execution issued thereon by serving the defendant and the816

defendant's sureties with a rule nisi at least two days before a hearing on the rule nisi.  In817

the event that cash or property is accepted in lieu of bond for security for the appearance818

of a defendant at trial and if such defendant fails to appear at the time and place fixed for819

trial, the cash so deposited shall be on order of the judge declared forfeited to the city, or820

the property so deposited shall have lien against it for the value forfeited, which lien shall821

be enforceable in the same manner and to the same extent as a lien for city property taxes.822

(f)  The municipal court shall have the same authority as superior courts to compel the823

production of evidence in the possession of any party; to enforce obedience to its orders,824

judgments and sentences; and to administer such oaths as are necessary.825

(g)  The municipal court shall have the authority to bind prisoners over to the appropriate826

court when it appears by probable cause that state law has been violated.827

(h)  Each judge of the municipal court may compel the presence of all parties necessary to828

a proper disposal of each case by the issuance of summonses, subpoenas and warrants829

which may be served as executed by any officer as authorized by this charter or by law.830

(i)  Each judge of the municipal court shall be authorized to issue warrants for the arrest831

of persons charged with offenses against any ordinance of the city, and each judge of the832

municipal court shall have the same authority as a magistrate of the state to issue warrants833

for offenses against state laws committed within the city.834

(j)  The municipal court is specifically vested with all the jurisdiction and powers835

throughout the geographic area of this city granted by law to municipal courts and836

S. B. 562
- 36 -



24 LC 47 2899

particularly by such laws as authorize the abatement of nuisances and prosecution of traffic837

violations.838

(k)  The chief municipal court judge shall perform such other duties as required for proper839

administration of the municipal court.840

Section 4.14.841

Appeal.842

The right of certiorari or appeal from the decision and judgment of the municipal court shall843

exist in all criminal cases and ordinance violation cases, and such certiorari shall be obtained844

under the sanction of a judge of the superior court of DeKalb County, under the laws of the845

State of Georgia regulating the granting and issuance of writs of certiorari or appeals from846

municipal courts.847

Section 4.15.848

Rules for court.849

With the approval of the city council, the judge shall have full power and authority to make850

reasonable rules and regulations necessary and proper to secure the efficient and successful851

administration of the municipal court; provided, however, that the city council may adopt in852

part or in toto the rules and regulations applicable to superior courts.  The rules and853

regulations made or adopted shall be filed with the city clerk, shall be available for public854

inspection, and, upon request, shall be furnished to all defendants in municipal court855

proceedings at least 48 hours prior to said proceedings.856

S. B. 562
- 37 -



24 LC 47 2899

ARTICLE V.857

ELECTIONS AND REMOVAL858

Section 5.10.859

Applicability of general law.860

All primaries and elections shall be held and conducted in accordance with the Constitution861

and general laws of the State of Georgia.862

Section 5.11.863

Election of the city council and mayor.864

(a)  There shall be a municipal general election on the first Tuesday next following the first865

Monday in November.866

(b)  There shall be elected the mayor and two councilmembers at one election and at every867

other election thereafter.  The remaining city council seats shall be filled at the election868

alternating with the first election so that a continuing body is created as provided for in the869

initial election held under this charter pursuant to Section 7.12 of this charter.870

Section 5.12.871

Nonpartisan elections.872

 873

Political parties shall not conduct primaries for city offices and all names of candidates for874

city offices shall be listed without party designations.875

S. B. 562
- 38 -



24 LC 47 2899

Section 5.13.876

Election by plurality.877

The person receiving a plurality of the votes cast for any city office shall be elected.878

Section 5.14.879

Special elections; vacancies.880

In the event that the office of mayor or councilmember shall become vacant, the city council881

or those remaining shall order a special election to fill the balance of the unexpired term of882

such official; provided, however, that if such vacancy occurs within 12 months of the883

expiration of the term of that office, the city council or those remaining shall appoint a884

successor for the remainder of the term.  In all other respects, the special election shall be885

held and conducted in accordance with applicable general state law as now or hereafter886

amended.887

Section 5.15.888

Other provisions.889

Except as otherwise provided by this charter, the city council shall, by ordinance, prescribe890

such rules and regulations it deems appropriate to fulfill any options and duties under general891

state law.892

S. B. 562
- 39 -



24 LC 47 2899

Section 5.16.893

Removal of officers.894

(a)  The mayor, councilmembers or other appointed officers provided for in this charter895

shall be removed from office for any one or more of the following causes:896

(1)  Incompetence, misfeasance or malfeasance in office;897

(2)  Conviction of a crime involving moral turpitude;898

(3)  Failure at any time to possess any of the qualifications of office as provided by this899

charter or by law;900

(4)  Knowingly violating any express prohibition of this charter;901

(5)  Abandonment of office or neglect to perform the duties thereof;902

(6)  Failure for any other cause to perform the duties of office as required by this charter903

or by state law.904

(b)(1)  Following a charge against an elected official upon one or more of the grounds905

listed in subparagraph (a) of this section, the elected official shall be notified of the906

charges in writing.  The city council, without participation by any charged member, shall907

appoint a committee consisting of five citizens who are not elected officials to conduct908

an investigation of the charges and said commission shall issue a report of its findings to909

the mayor and city council within ten days of its appointment.  The elected official910

charged shall have a right to a public hearing before the city council to be held within ten911

days of receipt by the mayor and city council of the report from the citizens committee.912

The charged elected official shall have the right of counsel, the right to examine913

witnesses, and the power to subpoena persons or physical evidence.  Any elected officer914

sought to be removed from office as herein provided shall have the right of appeal from915

the decision of the city council to the Superior Court of DeKalb County.  Such appeal916

shall be governed by the same rules as govern appeals to the superior court from the917

probate court; or918

S. B. 562
- 40 -



24 LC 47 2899

(2)  By petition of recall by the electors of the City of Pine Lake, as provided for by the919

laws of the State of Georgia.920

(c)  Any mayor or councilmember of the city who shall forfeit his or her office as described921

in paragraphs (a) and (b) of this section shall be ineligible for appointment or election for922

any office in the city government.923

ARTICLE VI.924

FINANCE925

Section 6.10.926

Property tax.927

The city council may assess, levy and collect an ad valorem tax on all real and personal928

property within the corporate limits of the city that is subject to such taxation by the state and929

county.  This tax is for the purpose of raising revenues to defray the costs of operating the930

city government, of providing governmental services, for the repayment of principal and931

interest on general obligations, and for any other public purpose as determined by the city932

council in its discretion.933

Section 6.11.934

Millage rate; due dates; payment methods.935

The city council by ordinance shall establish a millage rate for the city property tax, a due936

date, and the time period within which these taxes must be paid.  The city council by937

ordinance may provide for the payment of these taxes by installments or in one lump sum,938

as well as authorize the voluntary payment of taxes prior to the time when due.939

S. B. 562
- 41 -



24 LC 47 2899

Section 6.12.940

Occupation and business taxes.941

The city council by ordinance shall have the power to levy such occupation or business taxes942

as are not denied by law.  Such taxes may be levied on both individuals and corporations who943

transact business in this city or who practice or offer to practice any profession or calling to944

the extent such persons have a constitutionally sufficient nexus to this city to be so taxed.945

The city council may classify businesses, occupations, professions or callings for the purpose946

of such taxation in any way which may be lawful and may compel the payment of such taxes947

as provided in Section 6.18 of this charter.948

Section 6.13.949

Licenses; permits; fees.950

The city council by ordinance shall have the power to require any individual or corporation951

who transacts business in this city or who practices or offers to practice any profession or952

calling therein to obtain a license or permit for such activity from the city and pay a953

reasonable fee for such license or permit where such activities are not now regulated by954

general law in such a way as to preclude city regulations.  Such fees may reflect the total cost955

to the city of regulating the activity, and if unpaid, shall be collected as provided in956

Section 6.18 of this charter.  The city council by ordinance may establish reasonable957

requirements for obtaining or keeping such licenses as the public health, safety and welfare958

necessitate.959

S. B. 562
- 42 -



24 LC 47 2899

Section 6.14.960

Franchises.961

The city council shall have the power to grant franchises for the use of this city's streets and962

alleys for the purposes of railroads, street railways, telephone companies, electric companies,963

cable television companies, gas companies, transportation companies and other similar964

organizations.  The city council shall determine the duration, terms, whether the same shall965

be exclusive or nonexclusive, and the consideration of such franchises; provided, however,966

that no franchise shall be granted for a period in excess of 35 years and no franchise shall be967

granted unless the city receives just and adequate compensation therefor.  The city council968

may provide by ordinance for the registration within a reasonable time of all franchises969

previously granted.970

Section 6.15.971

Service charges.972

The city council by ordinance shall have the power to assess and collect fees, charges, and973

tolls for sewers, sanitary and health services, or any other services provided or made974

available inside and outside the corporate limits of the city for the total cost to the city of975

providing or making available such services.  If unpaid, such charges shall be collected as976

provided in Section 6.18 of this charter.977

Section 6.16.978

Special assessments.979

The city council by ordinance shall have the power to assess, charge, and collect the cost of980

constructing, reconstructing, widening or improving any public way, street, sidewalk,981

S. B. 562
- 43 -



24 LC 47 2899

curbing, gutters, sewers or other utility mains and appurtenances from the abutting property982

owners under such terms and conditions as are reasonable.  If unpaid, such charges shall be983

collected as provided in Section 6.18 of this charter.984

Section 6.17.985

Construction; other taxes.986

This city shall be empowered to levy any other tax allowed now or hereafter by law, and the987

specific mention of any right, power or authority in this article shall not be construed as988

limiting in any way the general powers of this city to govern its local affairs.989

Section 6.18.990

Collection of delinquent taxes.991

The city council by ordinance may provide generally for the collection of delinquent taxes,992

fees, or other revenue due the city under Sections 6.10 through 6.17 of this charter by993

whatever reasonable means as are not precluded by law.  This shall include providing for the994

dates when the taxes or fees are due, late penalties or interest, issuance and execution of fi.995

fas., creation and priority of liens, making delinquent taxes and fees personal debts of the996

persons required to pay the taxes or fees imposed, revoking city licenses for failure to pay997

any city taxes or fees, and providing for the assignment or transfer of tax executions.998

Section 6.19.999

Borrowing.1000

The city council shall have the power to issue bonds for the purpose of raising revenue to1001

carry out any project, program or venture authorized under this charter or the laws of the1002

S. B. 562
- 44 -



24 LC 47 2899

state.  Such bonding authority shall be exercised in accordance with the laws governing bond1003

issuance by municipalities in effect at the time said issue is undertaken.1004

Section 6.20.1005

Revenue bonds.1006

Revenue bonds may be issued by the city council as state law now or hereafter provides.1007

Such bonds are to be paid out of any revenue produced by the project, program or venture1008

for which they were issued.1009

Section 6.21.1010

Loans.1011

 1012

The city may obtain short-term loans and must repay such loans not later than December 311013

of each year, unless otherwise provided by law.1014

Section 6.22.1015

Accounting and budgeting.1016

The city council shall set the fiscal year by ordinance.  This fiscal year shall constitute the1017

budget year and the year for financial accounting and reporting of each and every office,1018

department, agency and activity of the city government.1019

S. B. 562
- 45 -



24 LC 47 2899

Section 6.23.1020

Budget ordinance.1021

The city council shall provide an ordinance on the procedures and requirements for the1022

preparation and execution of an annual operating budget, a capital improvement program,1023

and a capital budget, including requirements as to the scope content, and form of such1024

budgets and programs.1025

Section 6.24.1026

Operating budget.1027

On or before a date fixed by the city council but not later than 45 days prior to the beginning1028

of each fiscal year, the city manager shall submit to the mayor and city council a proposed1029

operating budget for the ensuing fiscal year.  The budget shall be accompanied by a message1030

from the city manager containing a statement of the general fiscal policies of the city, the1031

important features of the budget, explanations of major changes recommended for the next1032

fiscal year, a general summary of the budget, and such other comments and information as1033

the city manager may deem pertinent.  The operating budget, the capital improvement1034

budget, the budget message, and all supporting documents shall be filed in the office of the1035

city clerk and shall be open to public inspection.1036

Section 6.25.1037

Action by city council on budget.1038

(a)  The city council may amend the operating budget proposed by the city manager;1039

provided, however, that the budget as finally amended and adopted must provide all1040

expenditures required by state law or by other provisions of this charter and for all debt1041

S. B. 562
- 46 -



24 LC 47 2899

service requirements for the ensuing fiscal year.  The total appropriations from any fund1042

shall not exceed the estimated fund balance, reserves, and revenues.1043

(b)  The city council by resolution shall adopt the final operating, budget for the ensuing1044

fiscal year not later than December 27 of each year.  If the city council fails to adopt the1045

budget by said date, the amounts appropriated for operation for the then current fiscal year1046

shall be deemed adopted for the ensuing fiscal year on a month-to-month basis, with all1047

items prorated accordingly, until such time as the city council adopts a budget for the1048

ensuing fiscal year.  Adoption of the budget shall take the form of an appropriations1049

resolution setting out the estimated revenues in detail by sources and making1050

appropriations according to fund and by organizational unit, purpose or activity as set out1051

in the budget preparation ordinance adopted pursuant to Section 6.23 of this charter.1052

(c)  The amount set out in the adopted operating budget or each organizational unit shall1053

constitute the annual appropriation for such, and no expenditure shall be made or1054

encumbrance created in excess of the otherwise unencumbered balance of the1055

appropriations or allotments thereof to which it is chargeable.1056

Section 6.26.1057

Levy of taxes.1058

Following adoption of the operating budget, the city council shall levy by ordinance such1059

taxes as are necessary.  The taxes and tax rates set by such ordinance shall be such that1060

reasonable estimates of revenues from such levy shall at least be sufficient, together with1061

other anticipated revenues, fund balances and applicable reserves, to equal the total amount1062

appropriated for each of the several funds set forth in the annual operating budget for1063

defraying the expense of the general government of this city.1064

S. B. 562
- 47 -



24 LC 47 2899

Section 6.27.1065

Changes in appropriations.1066

The city council by resolution may make changes in the appropriations contained in the1067

current operating budget at any regular meeting or special or emergency meeting called for1068

such purposes, but any additional appropriations may be made only from an existing1069

unexpended surplus.1070

Section 6.28.1071

Capital improvements budget.1072

(a)  On or before a date fixed by the city council but not later than 45 days prior to the1073

beginning of each fiscal year, the city manager shall submit to the mayor and city council1074

a proposed capital improvement budget with recommendations as to the means of financing1075

the improvements proposed for the ensuing fiscal year.  The city council shall have the1076

power to accept, with or without amendments, or reject the proposed program and proposed1077

means of financing.  The city council shall not authorize an expenditure for the1078

construction of any building, structure, work or improvement unless the appropriations for1079

such project are included in the capital improvement budget, except to meet a public1080

emergency as provided in Section 2.24 of this charter.1081

(b)  The city council by resolution shall adopt the final operating budget for the ensuing1082

fiscal year not later than December 27 of each year.  If the city council fails to adopt the1083

budget by said date, the amounts appropriated for operation for the then current fiscal years1084

shall be deemed adopted for the ensuring fiscal year on a month-to-month basis, with all1085

items prorated accordingly, until such time as the city council adopts a budget for the1086

ensuring fiscal year.  Adoption of the budget shall take the form of an appropriations1087

resolution setting out the estimated revenues in detail by sources and making1088

S. B. 562
- 48 -



24 LC 47 2899

appropriations according to fund and by organizational unit, purpose or activity as set out1089

in the budget preparation ordinance adopted pursuant of Section 6.23 of this charter.1090

Section 6.29.1091

Independent audits.1092

There shall be an annual independent audit of all city accounts, funds, and financial1093

transactions by a certified public accountant selected by the city council.  The audit shall be1094

conducted according to generally accepted accounting principles.  Any audit of any funds by1095

the state or federal government may be accepted as satisfying the requirements of this1096

charter.  Copies of all audit reports shall be available at printing costs to the public.1097

Section 6.30.1098

Contracting procedures.1099

No contract with the city shall be binding on the city unless:1100

(1)  It is in writing;1101

(2)  It is drawn or submitted and reviewed by the city attorney and, as a matter of course,1102

is signed by the city attorney to indicate such drafting or review; and1103

(3)  It is made or authorized by the city council and such approval is entered in the city1104

council journal of proceedings pursuant to Section 2.21 of this charter.1105

Section 6.31.1106

Centralized purchasing.1107

The city council shall by ordinance or resolution prescribe the procedures for a system of1108

centralized purchasing for the city.1109

S. B. 562
- 49 -



24 LC 47 2899

Section 6.32.1110

Sale of city property.1111

(a)  The city council may sell and convey any real or personal property owned or held by1112

the city for governmental or other purposes as not or hereafter provided by law.1113

(b)  The city council may quitclaim any rights it may have in property not needed for public1114

purposes upon report by the mayor and adoption of a resolution, both finding that the1115

property is not needed for public or other purposes and that the interest of the city has no1116

readily ascertainable monetary value.1117

(c)  Whenever in opening, extending or widening any street, avenue, alley or public place1118

of the city a small parcel or tract of land is cut off or separated by such work from a larger1119

tract or boundary of land owned by the city, the city council may authorize the mayor to1120

execute and deliver in the name of the city a deed conveying said cut-off or separated1121

parcel or tract of land to an abutting or adjoining property owner or owners in exchange for1122

rights of way of said street, avenue, alley or public place when such exchange is deemed1123

to be in the best interest of the city.  All deeds and conveyances heretofore and hereafter1124

so executed and delivered shall convey all title and interest the city has in such property,1125

notwithstanding the fact that no public sale after advertisement was or is hereafter made.1126

S. B. 562
- 50 -



24 LC 47 2899

ARTICLE VII.1127

GENERAL PROVISIONS1128

Section 7.10.1129

Bonds for officials.1130

The officers and employees of this city, both elected and appointed, shall execute such surety1131

or fidelity bonds in such amounts and upon such terms and conditions as the city council1132

shall from time to time require by ordinance or as may be provided by law.1133

Section 7.11.1134

Rules and regulations.1135

All ordinances, resolutions, rules and regulations now in force in the city not inconsistent1136

with this charter are declared valid and of full effect and force until amended or repealed by1137

the city council.1138

Section 7.12.1139

First election under this charter; future elections.1140

The first municipal election under this charter shall be held on November 4, 2025, at which1141

time the positions held by Augusta Woods and Jean Bordeaux and one council seat1142

previously held by Mayor Brandy Hall shall be filled.  Such council seats are designated1143

council Posts 3, 4 and 5, respectively.  The positions presently held by Brandy Hall, Jeff1144

Goldberg and Thomas Torrent shall be designated mayor and council Posts 1 and 2,1145

respectively, and shall be retained by them until the regular election date in 2027 unless1146

vacated by them pursuant to provisions of Article 5 of this charter.  All persons giving notice1147

S. B. 562
- 51 -



24 LC 47 2899

of candidacy for a city council seat shall designate the council post being sought.  All council1148

posts are held 'at large' and represent all residents of Pine Lake.  All registered voters of Pine1149

Lake shall be able to elect candidates of their choice for all city council posts regardless of1150

where they live within the city.1151

Section 7.13.1152

Charter language on other general matters.1153

Except as specifically provided otherwise by this charter, all rights, claims, actions, orders,1154

contracts and legal or administrative proceedings shall continue and any such ongoing work1155

or cases shall be completed by such city agencies, personnel or offices as may be provided1156

by the city council.1157

Section 7.14.1158

Definitions and construction.1159

(a)  Section captions in this charter are informative only and shall not be considered as a1160

part thereof.1161

(b)  The word 'shall' is mandatory and the word 'may' is permissive.1162

(c)  The singular shall include the plural, the masculine shall include the feminine, and vice1163

versa.1164

Section 7.15.1165

Severability.1166

If any article, section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, or part thereof of this charter shall be1167

held to be invalid or unconstitutional, such invalidity or unconstitutionality shall not affect1168

S. B. 562
- 52 -



24 LC 47 2899

or impair other parts of this charter unless it clearly appears that such other parts are wholly1169

and necessarily dependent upon the part held to be invalid or unconstitutional, it being the1170

legislative intent in enacting this charter that each article, section, subsection, paragraph,1171

sentence or part thereof be enacted separately and independent of each other."1172

SECTION 2.1173

All laws and parts of laws in conflict with this Act are repealed.1174

S. B. 562
- 53 -


	Agenda [Draft], 2 10 2026.pdf



